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SM 2020 Additional Illustrations and Questions 

ICAI – STUDY MATERIAL 
RELEVANT FROM MAY 2020 EXAMS 

 
ILLUSTRATIONS & QUESTIONS  

ADDED IN THE STUDY MATERIAL WITH CRITICAL AMENDMENTS 
 
 

Chapter 2 
 

Illustration 4  
A retail chain acquired a competitor in March, 20X1 and accounted for the business combination under Ind 

AS 103 on a provisional basis in its 31st March, 20X1 annual financial statements. The business 

combination accounting was finalised in 20X1-20X2 and the provisional fair values were updated. As a 

result, the 20X0-20X1 comparatives were adjusted in the 20X1-X2 annual financial statements. Does the 

restatement require an opening statement of financial position (that is, an additional statement of financial 

position) as of 1st April, 20X0?                             SM PG [2.26] 
Solution 

An additional statement of financial position is not required, because the acquisition had no impact on the 

entity’s financial position at 1st April, 20X0. 

 

 

Illustration 15 
OMN Ltd has a subsidiary MN Ltd. OMN Ltd provides a loan to MN Ltd at 8% interest to be paid annually. 

The loan is required to be paid whenever demanded back by OMN Ltd. 

How should the loan be classified in the financial statements of OMN Ltd? Will it be any different for MN 

Ltd? 

                                 SM PG [2.39] 
Solution 

The demand feature might be primarily a form of protection or a tax-driven feature of the loan. Both parties 

might expect and intend that the loan will remain outstanding for the foreseeable future. If so, the 

instrument is, in substance, long-term in nature, and accordingly, OMN Ltd would classify the loan as a 

non-current asset. 

However, OMN Ltd would classify the loan as a current asset if both the parties intend that it will be repaid 

within 12 months of the reporting period. 

MN Ltd would classify the loan as current because it does not have the right to defer repayment for more 

than 12 months, regardless of the intentions of both the parties. 

The classification of the instrument could affect initial recognition and subsequent measurement. 

This might require the entity’s management to exercise judgement, which could require disclosure under 

judgements and estimates. 
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UNIT 2: 
INDIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARD 34: INTERIM FINANCIAL REPORTING 

 

Q.3.  Narayan Ltd. provides you the following information and asks you to calculate the tax expense for each 

quarter, assuming that there is no difference between the estimated taxable income and the estimated 

accounting income: 

Estimated Gross Annual Income      33,00,000 

(inclusive of Estimated Capital Gains of ` 8,00,000) 

Estimated Income of Quarter I is ` 7,00,000, Quarter II is ` 8,00,000, Quarter III (including Estimated 

Capital Gains of ` 8,00,000) is ` 12,00,000 and Quarter IV is ` 6,00,000. 

Tax Rates:  On Capital Gains     12% 

On Other Income:  First ` 5,00,000   30% 

Balance Income  40% 

SM PG [2.84] 
Solution:  

As per para 29 of AS 25 ‘Interim Financial Reporting’, income tax expense is recognised in each interim 

period based on the best estimate of the weighted average annual income tax rate expected for the full 

financial year. 

If different income tax rates apply to different categories of income (such as capital gains or income earned 

in particular industries) to the extent practicable, a separate rate is applied to each individual category of 

interim period pre-tax income. 

 

 `  
Estimated annual income exclusive of estimated capital gain 

(33,00,000 – 8,00,000)                                                                    (A)  

 

 25,00,000 

Tax expense on other income: 

30% on ` 5,00,000 

40% on remaining ` 20,00,000 

 

1,50,000 

    8,00,000 

(B)      9,50,000 

Weighted average annual income tax rate =  = 30%  
 

 

Tax expense to be recognised in each of the quarterly reports 
  `  
Quarter I – ` 7,00,000 ´ 38%  

Quarter II – ` 8,00,000 ´ 38%  

 2,66,000 

3,04,000 

Quarter III –  ` (12,00,000 - 8,00,000) ´ 38% 

` 8,00,000 ´ 12% 

1,52,000 

      96,000 

 

2,48,000 

Quarter IV – ` 6,00,000 ´ 38%     2,28,000 

10,46,000 

 

Q.3.  An entity reports quarterly, earns Rs. 1,50,000 pre-tax profit in the first quarter but expects to incur losses 

of Rs. 50,000 in each of the three remaining quarters. The entity operates in a jurisdiction in which its 

estimated average annual income tax rate is 30%. 

The management believes that since the entity has zero income for the year, its income-tax expense for the 

year will be zero. State whether the management’s views are correct or not? 

If not, then calculate the tax expense for each quarter as well as for the year as per Ind AS 34. 

SM PG [2.84] 
Solution:  

000,00,25
000,50,9

A
B
=
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As illustrated in para 30 (c) of Ind AS 34 ‘Interim financial reporting’, income tax expense is recognised in 
each interim period based on the best estimate of the weighted average annual income tax rate expected 

for the full financial year. 

Accordingly, the management’s contention that since the net income for the year will be zero no income tax 

expense shall be charged quarterly in the interim financial report, is not correct. 

The following table shows the correct income tax expense to be reported each quarter in accordance with 

Ind AS 34: 

 

Period  Pre-tax earnings (in `) Effective tax rate  Tax expense (in `) 
First Quarter  1,50,000  30%  45,000 

Second Quarter  (50,000)  30%  (15,000) 

Third Quarter  (50,000)  30%  (15,000) 

Fourth Quarter  (50,000)  30%  (15,000) 

Annual               0                0 
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UNIT 3: 
INDIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARD 7: STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

 

Illustration 10 
Following is the balance sheet of Kuber Limited for the year ended March 31, 20X2 (` in lacs) 

 

 20X2 20X1 
ASSETS   

Non-current Assets   

Property, plant and equipment  13,000  12,500 

Intangible assets  50  30 

Other financial assets  145  170 

Deferred Tax Asset (net)  855  750 

Other non-current assets        800         770 

Total Non-current assets 14,850  14,220 
Current Assets   

Financial assets   

Investments  2,300  2,500 

Cash and cash equivalents  220  460 

Other current assets           195           85 

Total Current assets        2,715      3,045 
Total Assets     17,565    17,265 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Equity 

Equity share capital 

Other equity 

 

 

300 

12,000 

 

 

300 

8,000 

Total equity 12,300  8,300 
Liabilities 

Non-current liabilities 
Long-term borrowings 

Other non-current liabilities 

 

 

2,000 

2,740 

 

 

5,000 

3,615 

Total non-current liabilities 4,740  8,615 
Current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 
Trade payables 

Bank Overdraft 

Other current liabilities 

 
 

150 

75 

300 

 

 

90 

60 

200 

Total current liabilities 525 350 
Total liabilities 5,265  8,965 

Total Equity and Liabilities 17,565 17,265 
 

Additional Information: 
(1)  Profit after tax for the year ended March 31, 20X2 – ` 4,450 lacs 

(2)  Interim Dividend paid during the year – ` 450 lacs 

(3)  Depreciation and amortisation charged in the statement of profit and loss during the current year 

are as under 

(a) Property, Plant and Equipment – ` 500 lacs 

(b) Intangible Assets – ` 20 lacs 
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(4)  During the year ended March 31, 20X2 two machineries were sold for ` 70 lacs. The carrying 

amount of these machineries as on March 31, 20X2 is ` 60 lacs. 

(5)  Income taxes paid during the year ` 105 lacs 

(6)  Other non-current/current assets and liabilities are related to operations of Kuber Ltd. and do not 

contain any element of financing and investing activities. 

Using the above information of Kuber Limited, construct a statement of cash flows under indirect method. 

SM PG [2.113] 
Solution 

Statement of Cash Flows 
 

  ` in lacs  
Cash flows from Operating Activities   

Net Profit after Tax  4,450  

Add: Tax Paid         105  

 4,555  

Add: Depreciation& Amortisation (500 + 20)  520  

Less: Gain on Sale of Machine (70-60)  (10)  

Less: Increase in Deferred Tax Asset (855-750)      (105)  

 4,960  

Change in operating assets and liabilities   

Add: Decrease in financial asset (170 - 145)  25  

Less: Increase in other non-current asset (800 - 770)  (30)  

Less: Increase in other current asset (195 - 85)  (110)  

Less: Decrease in other non-current liabilities (3,615 – 2,740)  (875)  

Add: Increase in other current liabilities (300 - 200)  100  

Add: Increase in trade payables (150-90)          60  

 4,130  

Less: Income Tax       (105)  

Cash generated from Operating Activities   4,025 
Cash flows from Investing Activities   

Sale of Machinery  70  

Purchase of Machinery [13,000-(12,500 – 500-60)]  (1,060)  

Purchase of Intangible Asset [50-(30-20)]  (40)  

Sale of Financial asset - Investment (2,500 – 2,300)          200  

Cash outflow from Investing Activities   (830) 
Cash flows from Financing Activities   

Dividend Paid  (450)  

Long term borrowings paid (5,000 – 2,000)  (3,000)  

Cash outflow from Financing Activities     (3,450) 
Net Cash outflow from all the activities   (255) 
Opening cash and cash equivalents (460 – 60)           400 
Closing cash and cash equivalents (220 – 75)          145 
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Chapter 4 
IND AS ON MEASUREMENT BASED ON ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

UNIT 1: 
INDIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARD 8 : ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

AND ERRORS 
 

Illustration 1 
Can an entity voluntarily change one or more of its accounting policies? 

SM PG [4.13] 
Solution 

A change in an accounting policy can be made only if the change is required or permitted by Ind AS 8. 

As per para 14 of Ind AS 8, an entity shall change an accounting policy only if the change: 

(a)  is required by an Ind AS; or 

(b)  results in the financial statements providing reliable and more relevant information about the effects 

of transactions, other events or conditions on the entity’s financial position, financial performance or 

cash flows. 

Para 15 of the standard states that the users of financial statements need to be able to compare the 

financial statements of an entity over time to identify trends in its financial position, financial performance 

and cash flows. Therefore, the same accounting policies are applied within each period and from one 

period to the next unless a change in accounting policy meets one of the above criteria. 

 

Paragraph 14(b) lays down two requirements that must be complied with in order to make a voluntary 

change in an accounting policy. First, the information resulting from application of the changed (i.e., the 

new) accounting policy must be reliable. Second, the changed accounting policy must result in “more 

relevant” information being presented in the financial statements. 

 

Whether a changed accounting policy results in reliable and more relevant financial information is a matter 

of assessment in the particular facts and circumstances of each case. In order to ensure that such an 

assessment is made judiciously (such that a voluntary change in an accounting policy does not effectively 

become a matter of free choice), paragraph 29 of Ind AS 8 requires an entity making a voluntary change in 

an accounting policy to disclose, inter alia, “the reasons why applying the new accounting policy provides 

reliable and more relevant information.” 

 

Illustration 2 
Entity ABC acquired a building for its administrative purposes and presented the same as property, plant 

and equipment (PPE) in the financial year 20X1- X2. During the financial year 20X2- X3, it relocated the 

office to a new building and leased the said building to a third party. Following the change in the usage of 

the building, Entity ABC reclassified it from PPE to investment property in the financial year 20X2- X3. 

Should Entity ABC account for the change as a change in accounting policy? 

SM PG [4.13] 
Solution 

Paragraph 16(a) of Ind AS 8 provides that the application of an accounting policy for transactions, other 

events or conditions that differ in substance from those previously occurring are not changes in accounting 

policies. 

As per Ind AS 16, ‘property, plant and equipment’ are tangible items that: 

(a)  are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or for 

administrative purposes; and 

(b)  are expected to be used during more than one period.” 
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As per Ind AS 40, ‘investment property’ is property (land or a building – or part of a building – or both) held 

(by the owner or by the lessee as a right-of-use asset) to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both, 

rather than for: 

(a)  use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or 

(b)  sale in the ordinary course of business.” 

As per the above definitions, whether a building is an item of property, plant and equipment (PPE) or an 

investment property for an entity depends on the purpose for which it is held by the entity. It is thus possible 

that due to a change in the purpose for which it is held, a building that was previously classified as an item 

of property, plant and equipment may warrant reclassification as an investment property, or vice versa. 

Whether a building is in the nature of PPE or investment property is determined by applying the definitions 

of these terms from the perspective of that entity. Thus, the classification of a building as an item of 

property, plant and equipment or as an investment property is not a matter of an accounting policy choice. 

Accordingly, a change in classification of a building from property, plant and equipment to investment 

property due to change in the purpose for which it is held by the entity is not a change in an accounting 

policy. 

 

 

Illustration 3 
Whether change in functional currency of an entity represents a change in accounting policy? 

SM PG [4.14] 
Solution 

Paragraph 16(a) of Ind AS 8 provides that the application of an accounting policy for transactions, other 

events or conditions that differ in substance from those previously occurring are not changes in accounting 

policies. 

As per Ind AS 21, ‘functional currency’ is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 

entity operates. 

Paragraphs 9-12 of Ind AS 21 list factors to be considered by an entity in determining its functional 

currency. It is recognised that there may be cases where the functional currency is not obvious. In such 

cases, Ind AS 21 requires the management to use its judgement to determine the functional currency that 

most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying transactions, events and conditions. 

Paragraph 13 of Ind AS 21 specifically notes that an entity’s functional currency reflects the underlying 

transactions, events and conditions that are relevant to it. Accordingly, once determined, the functional 

currency is not changed unless there is a change in those underlying transactions, events and conditions. 

Thus, functional currency of an entity is not a matter of an accounting policy choice. 

In view of the above, a change in functional currency of an entity does not represent a change in 

accounting policy and Ind AS 8, therefore, does not apply to such a change. Ind AS 21 requires that when 

there is a change in an entity’s functional currency, the entity shall apply the translation procedures 

applicable to the new functional currency prospectively from the date of the change. 

 

Illustration 4 
An entity developed one of its accounting policies by considering a pronouncement of an overseas national 

standard-setting body in due accordance with Ind AS 8. Would it be permissible for the entity to change the 

said policy to reflect a subsequent amendment in that pronouncement? 

SM PG [4.16] 
Solution 

In the absence of an Ind AS that specifically applies to a transaction, other event or condition, management 

may apply an accounting policy from the most recent pronouncements of International Accounting 

Standards Board and in absence thereof those of the other standardsetting bodies that use a similar 

conceptual framework to develop accounting standards. If, following an amendment of such a 

pronouncement, the entity chooses to change an accounting policy, that change is accounted for and 

disclosed as a voluntary change in accounting policy. As such a change is a voluntary change in 
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accounting policy, it can be made only if it results in information that is reliable and more relevant (and does 

not conflict with the sources in Ind AS 8). 

 

Illustration 5 
Whether an entity can change its accounting policy of subsequent measurement of property, plant and 

equipment (PPE) from revaluation model to cost model? 

SM PG [4.20] 
Solution 

Paragraph 29 of Ind AS 16 provides that an entity shall choose either the cost model or the revaluation 

model as its accounting policy for subsequent measurement of an entire class of PPE. A change from 

revaluation model to cost model for a class of PPE can be made only if it meets the condition specified in 

Ind AS 8 paragraph 14(b) i.e. the change results in the financial statements providing reliable and more 

relevant information to the users of financial statements. For example, an unlisted entity planning IPO may 

change its accounting policy from revaluation model to cost model for some or all classes of PPE to align 

the entity’s accounting policy with that of listed markets participants within that industry so as to enhance 

the comparability of its financial statements with those of other listed market participants within the industry. 

Such a change – from revaluation model to cost model is not expected to be frequent.  

Where the change in accounting policy from revaluation model to cost model is considered permissible in 

accordance with Ind AS 8 paragraph 14(b), it shall be accounted for retrospectively, in accordance with Ind 

AS 8. 

 

 

Illustration 6 
Whether an entity is required to disclose the impact of any new Ind AS which is issued but not yet effective 

in its financial statements as prepared as per Ind AS? 

SM PG [4.23] 
Solution 

Paragraph 30 of Ind AS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, states as 

follows: 

“When an entity has not applied a new Ind AS that has been issued but is not yet effective, the entity shall 

disclose: 

(a)  this fact; and 

(b)  known or reasonably estimable information relevant to assessing the possible impact that 

application of the new Ind AS will have on the entity’s financial statements in the period of initial 

application.” 

Accordingly, it may be noted that an entity is required to disclose the impact of Ind AS which has been 

issued but is not yet effective. 

 

Illustration 7 
Whether a change in inventory cost formula is a change in accounting policy or a change in accounting 

estimate? 

SM PG [4.24] 
Solution 

As per Ind AS 8, accounting policies are the specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices 

applied by an entity in preparing and presenting financial statements. Further, paragraph 36(a) of Ind AS 2, 

‘Inventories’, specifically requires disclosure of ‘cost formula used’ as a part of disclosure of accounting 

policies adopted in measurement of inventories. 

Accordingly, a change in cost formula is a change in accounting policy. 

 

 

Example 
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During the financial year ended 31st March, 20X2, Entity ABC introduced a new range of electric motors. It 

sold the motors with a standard warranty of two years. Warranty provides assurance that a product will 

function as expected and in accordance with certain specifications and it has been assessed that it is not a 

separate performance obligation under Ind AS 115. 

Based on results of testing of the motors during trials prior to commercial production, Entity ABC made a 

provision for warranty costs amounting to ` 1,00,000 for motors sold during the year ended 31st March, 

20X2. 

During financial year 20X2-X3, a defect was discovered in the motors that had not come to light during the 

trials. The defect resulted in the entity incurring an amount of ` 2,00,000 during the financial year 20X2-X3 

on repairs of motors sold during the financial year 20X1-X2. Besides, the entity expects to incur ` 1,50,000 

as costs during the year 20X3-X4 on meeting its warranty obligations in respect of motors sold during the 

financial year 20X2- X3. 

In preparing its financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 20X3, the entity would carry forward a 

warranty provision of ` 1,50,000 in respect of motors sold during the financial year 20X1-X2. It would 

recognise an amount of ` 2,50,000 (` 2,00,00 plus ` 1,50,000 minus ` 1,00,000) in respect of motors sold 

during the financial year 20X1-X2 as an expense in profit or loss for the financial year 20X2-X3. The 

warranty provision included in the comparatives for financial year ended 31st March, 20X2 would not be 

adjusted. 

The provision for warranty costs in respect of motors sold during the financial year 20X2-X3 would be made 

by considering the information concerning the defect in motors that came to light during the financial year. 

SM PG [4.25] 
 

Illustration 8 
An entity has presented certain material liabilities as non-current in its financial statements for periods upto 

31st March, 20X1. While preparing annual financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 20X2, 

management discovers that these liabilities should have been classified as current. The management 

intends to restate the comparative amounts for the prior period presented (i.e., as at 31st March, 20X1). 

Would this reclassification of liabilities from non-current to current in the comparative amounts be 

considered to be correction of an error under Ind AS 8? 

Would the entity need to present a third balance sheet? 

SM PG [4.29] 
Solution 

As per paragraph 41 of Ind AS, errors can arise in respect of the recognition, measurement, presentation or 

disclosure of elements of financial statements. Financial statements do not comply with Ind AS if they 

contain either material errors or immaterial errors made intentionally to achieve a particular presentation of 

an entity’s financial position, financial performance or cash flows. Potential current period errors discovered 

in that period are corrected before the financial statements are approved for issue. However, material 

errors are sometimes not discovered until a subsequent period, and these prior period errors are corrected 

in the comparative information presented in the financial statements for that subsequent period. 

In accordance with the above, the reclassification of liabilities from non-current to current would be 

considered as correction of an error under Ind AS 8. Accordingly, in the financial statements for the year 

ended 31st March, 20X2, the comparative amounts as at 31st March, 20X1 would be restated to reflect the 

correct classification. 

Ind AS 1 requires an entity to present a third balance sheet as at the beginning of the preceding period in 

addition to the minimum comparative financial statements, if, inter alia, it makes a retrospective 

restatement of items in its financial statements and the restatement has a material effect on the information 

in the balance sheet at the beginning of the preceding period. 

Accordingly, the entity should present a third balance sheet as at the beginning of the preceding period, 

i.e., as at 1st April, 20X0 in addition to the comparatives for the financial year 20X0-X1. 
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Q. 2.  An entity charged off certain expenses as finance costs in its financial statements for the year ended 31st 

March, 20X1. While preparing annual financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 20X2, 

management discovered that these expenses should have been classified as other expenses instead of 

finance costs. The error occurred because the management inadvertently misinterpreted certain facts. The 

entity intends to restate the comparative amounts for the prior period presented in which the error occurred 

(i.e., year ended 31st March, 20X1). Would this reclassification of expenses from finance costs to other 

expenses in the comparative amounts be considered to be correction of an error under Ind AS 8? Would 

the entity need to present a third balance sheet? 

SM PG [4.35] 
Solution  

As per paragraph 41 of Ind AS 8, errors can arise in respect of the recognition, measurement, presentation 

or disclosure of elements of financial statements. Financial statements do not comply with Ind AS if they 

contain either material errors or immaterial errors made intentionally to achieve a particular presentation of 

an entity’s financial position, financial performance or cash flows. Potential current period errors discovered 

in that period are corrected before the financial statements are approved for issue. However, material 

errors are sometimes not discovered until a subsequent period, and these prior period errors are corrected 

in the comparative information presented in the financial statements for that subsequent period. 

In accordance with the above, the reclassification of expenses from finance costs to other expenses would 

be considered as correction of an error under Ind AS 8. Accordingly, in the financial statements for the year 

ended 31st March, 20X2, the comparative amounts for the year ended 31st March, 20X1 would be restated 

to reflect the correct classification. 

Ind AS 1 requires an entity to present a third balance sheet as at the beginning of the preceding period in 

addition to the minimum comparative financial statements if, inter alia, it makes a retrospective restatement 

of items in its financial statements and the restatement has a material effect on the information in the 

balance sheet at the beginning of the preceding period. 

In the given case, the retrospective restatement of relevant items in statement of profit and loss has no 

effect on the information in the balance sheet at the beginning of the preceding period (1st April, 20X0). 

Therefore, the entity is not required to present a third balance sheet. 

 
Q.3.  While preparing the annual financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 20X3, an entity discovers 

that a provision for constructive obligation for payment of bonus to selected employees in corporate office 

(material in amount) which was required to be recognised in the annual financial statements for the year 

ended 31st March, 20X1 was not recognised due to oversight of facts. The bonus was paid during the 

financial year ended 31st March, 20X2 and was recognised as an expense in the annual financial 

statements for the said year. Would this situation require retrospective restatement of comparatives 

considering that the error was material? 

SM PG [4.35] 
 

Solution:  
As per paragraph 41 of Ind AS 8, errors can arise in respect of the recognition, measurement, presentation 

or disclosure of elements of financial statements. Financial statements do not comply with Ind AS if they 

contain either material errors or immaterial errors made intentionally to achieve a particular presentation of 

an entity’s financial position, financial performance or cash flows. Potential current period errors discovered 

in that period are corrected before the financial statements are approved for issue. However, material 

errors are sometimes not discovered until a subsequent period, and these prior period errors are corrected 

in the comparative information presented in the financial statements for that subsequent period. 

As per paragraph 40A of Ind AS 1, an entity shall present a third balance sheet as at the beginning of the 

preceding period in addition to the minimum comparative financial statements if, inter alia, it makes a 

retrospective restatement of items in its financial statements and the retrospective restatement has a 

material effect on the information in the balance sheet at the beginning of the preceding period. 
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In the given case, expenses for the year ended 31st March, 20X1 and liabilities as at 31st March, 20X1 

were understated because of non-recognition of bonus expense and related provision. Expenses for the 

year ended 31st March, 20X2, on the other hand, were overstated to the same extent because of 

recognition of the aforesaid bonus as expense for the year. To correct the above errors in the annual 

financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 20X3, the entity should: 

(a)  restate the comparative amounts (i.e., those for the year ended 31st March, 20X2) in the statement 

of profit and loss; and 

(b)  present a third balance sheet as at the beginning of the preceding period (i.e., as at 1st April, 20X1) 

wherein it should recognise the provision for bonus and restate the retained earnings. 

 

Q.4.  While preparing interim financial statements for the half-year ended 30th September, 20X1, an entity notes 

that there has been an under-accrual of certain expenses in the interim financial statements for the first 

quarter ended 30th June, 20X1. The amount of under accrual is assessed to be material in the context of 

interim financial statements. However, it is expected that the amount would be immaterial in the context of 

the annual financial statements. The management is of the view that there is no need to correct the error in 

the interim financial statements considering that the amount is expected to be immaterial from the point of 

view of the annual financial statements. Whether the management’s view is acceptable? 

SM PG [4.35] 
Solution:  

Paragraph 41 of Ind AS 8, inter alia, states that financial statements do not comply with Ind AS if they 

contain either material errors or immaterial errors made intentionally to achieve a particular presentation of 

an entity’s financial position, financial performance or cash flows.  

As regards the assessment of materiality of an item in preparing interim financial statements, paragraph 25 

of Ind AS 34, Interim Financial Statements, states as follows: 

“While judgement is always required in assessing materiality, this Standard bases the recognition and 

disclosure decision on data for the interim period by itself for reasons of understandability of the interim 

figures. Thus, for example, unusual items, changes in accounting policies or estimates, and errors are 

recognised and disclosed on the basis of materiality in relation to interim period data to avoid misleading 

inferences that might result from nondisclosure. The overriding goal is to ensure that an interim financial 

report includes all information that is relevant to understanding an entity’s financial position and 

performance during the interim period.” 

As per the above, while materiality judgements always involve a degree of subjectivity, the overriding goal 

is to ensure that an interim financial report includes all the information that is relevant to an understanding 

of the financial position and performance of the entity during the interim period. It is therefore not 

appropriate to base quantitative assessments of materiality on projected annual figures when evaluating 

errors in interim financial statements. Accordingly, the management is required to correct the error in the 

interim financial statements since it is assessed to be material in relation to interim period data. 

 

Q.5.  ABC Ltd has an investment property with an original cost of ` 1,00,000 which it inadvertently omitted to 

depreciate in previous financial statements. The property was acquired on 1st April, 20X1. How should the 

error be corrected in the financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 20X4, assuming the impact of 

the same is considered material? The property has a useful life of 10 years and is depreciated using 

straight line method. Estimated residual value at the end of 10 year is Nil. For simplicity, ignore tax effects. 

SM PG [4.35] 
 

Solution:  
The error shall be corrected by retrospectively restating the comparatives. A third balance sheet as at the 

beginning of the earliest period shall also be presented. Relevant extracts of balance sheet, statement of 

profit and loss and statement of changes in equity are reproduced below: 

 

Balance sheet   Restated  Restated 
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 31st March, 
20X4  

`  

31st March, 
20X3  

`  

1st April, 
20X2  

`  
Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment  60,500  64,500  70,000 

Investment property (refer note 1 below)  70,000  80,000 90,000 

Total non-current assets  130,500  144,500  160,000 

Current Assets    

Cash  50,000  40,000  60,000 

Trade receivables  80,000  100,000  90,000 

Total current assets  130,000  140,000  150,000 

Total assets  260,500  284,500  310,000 

Equity and liabilities    

Equity    

Equity share capital  50,000  50,000  50,000 

Other equity    

Reserves and surplus     80,500     60,500    40,000 

Total equity  130,500  110,500    90,000 

Liabilities    

Current liabilities    

Financial liabilities    

Trade payables  100,000  135,000  122,000 

Other financial liabilities      30,000      39,000      98,000 

Total liabilities   1,30,000    1,74,000  2,20,000 

Total Equity and Liabilities    260,500    284,500    310,000 

 

 

Statement of profit and loss  Restated 
 31st March, 20X4 31st March, 20X3 
 `  `  
Revenue from operations  48,000  50,000 

Other income      2,000       3,000 

Total Income    50,000    53,000 

Expenses   

Purchases of stock-in-trade  15,500  16,700 

(Increase)/Decrease in inventories of Stock-in- Trade 500  300 

Depreciation expense (refer note 1 below)  14,000  15,500 

Total expenses  30,000  32,500 

Profit for the year  20,000  20,500 

 

 

 

 

 

Statement of changes in equity  Restated 
 Equity share 

capital 
Retained earnings 

 `  `  
Balance as at 1st April, 20X2 as previously reported  50,000 50,000 

Impact of the depreciation on investment property for FY   
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20X1-X2 (Refer note 1)               -  (10,000) 

Restated balance as at 1st April, 20X2  50,000  40,000 

Profit for the FY 20X2-X3 (restated)               -  20,500 

Balance as at 31st March, 20X3    50,000  60,500 

Profit for the FY 20X3-X4               -  20,000 

Balance as at 31st March, 20X4  50,000  80,500 

 

Note 1: 
During the year ended 31st March 20X4, the management undertook a detailed review of its accounting 

policies and observed that investment property had not been depreciated in previous financial statements 

due to oversight. As a consequence, the investment property had been incorrectly measured at the original 

historical cost instead of the depreciated carrying value.  

Due to this error, the investment property and retained earnings as at 1st April, 20X2 were overstated by ` 

10,000 each. The error also affected the profit for the year ended 31st March, 20X3 which was overstated 

by ` 10,000. The investment property and retained earnings as at 31st March, 20X3 were overstated by ` 

20,000 each  

The error has been corrected by restating each of the affected financial statement line items for the prior 

periods as follows: 

(All figures in `) 
Balance sheet  31st March, 

20X3 (as 
previously 

reported)  

Increase/ 
(decrease) 

due to 
correction 

of error 

31st 
March, 

20X3 
(restated) 

1st April, 
20X2 (as 

previously 
reported) 

Increase/ 
(decrease) 

due to 
correction 

of error 

1st April, 
20X2 

(restated) 

Investment 

property  

100,000  (20,000)  80,000  100,000  (10,000)  90,000 

Total Non-current 

assets  

164,500  (20,000)  144,500  170,000 (10,000) 

160,000 

 

Total assets  304,500  (20,000)  284,500  320,000  (10,000)  310,000 

Retained earnings  80,500  (20,000)  60,500  50,000  (10,000)  40,000 

Total equity  130,500  (20,000)  110,500  100,000  (10,000)  90,000 

 
Statement of profit and 
loss 

31st March, 20X3 (as 
previously reported) 

Increase/(decrease) due 
to correction of error 

31st March, 20X3 
(restated) 

Depreciation  5,500  10,000  15,500 

Total expenses  22,500  10,000  32,500 

Profit for the year  30,500  (10,000)  20,500 

 

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the prior year have also been restated. The amount of the 

correction for both basic and diluted earnings per share was a decrease of ` 0.20 per share. 

The correction of the error had no impact on previously reported cash flows from operating, investing and 

financing activities. 

 

 

UNIT 2: 
IND AS 10: EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

 

 

 

Illustration 1 
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What is the date of approval for issue of the financial statements prepared for the reporting period from 

April 1, 20X1 to March 31, 20X2, in a situation where following dates are available?  

Completion of preparation of financial statements May 28, 20X2 Board reviews and approves it for issue 

June 19, 20X2 

Available to shareholders  July 01, 20X2 

Annual General Meeting  September 15, 20X2 

Filed with regulatory authority  October 16, 20X2 

Will your answer differ if the entity is a partnership firm? 

SM PG [4.46] 
Solution 

As per Ind AS 10 the date of approval for issue of financial statements is the date on which the financial 

statements are approved by the Board of Directors in case of a company, and, by the corresponding 

approving authority in case of any other entity. Accordingly, in the instant case, the date of approval is the 

date on which the financial statements are approved by the Board of Directors of the company, i.e., June 

19, 20X2. 

In the case of an entity is a partnership firm, the date of approval will be the date when the relevant 

approving authority of such entity approves the financial statements for issue ie. the date when the 

partner(s) of the firm approve(s) the financial statements. 

 

Illustration 2 
ABC Ltd. prepared interim financial report for the quarter ending June 30, 20X1. The interim financial report 

was approved for issue by the Board of Directors on July 15, 20X1. Whether events occurring between end 

of the interim financial report and date of approval by Board of Directors, i.e., events between July 1, 20X1 

and July 15, 20X1 that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the interim reporting period 

shall be adjusted in the interim financial report ending June 30, 20X1? 

SM PG [4.47] 
Solution 

Paragraph 3 of Ind AS 10, inter alia, defines ‘Events after the reporting period’ as those events, favourable 

and unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the financial 

statements are approved by the Board of Directors in case of a company, and, by the corresponding 

approving authority in case of any other entity for issue.  

What is reporting period has not been dealt with in Ind AS 10. Absence of any specific guidance regarding 

reporting period implies that any term for which reporting is done by preparing financial statements is the 

reporting period for the purpose of Ind AS 10. Accordingly, financial reporting done for interim period by 

preparing either complete set of financial statements or by preparing condensed financial statements will 

be treated as reporting period for the purpose of Ind AS 10.  

Paragraph 2 of Ind AS 34, inter alia, provides that each financial report, annual or interim, is evaluated on 

its own for conformity with Ind AS. Further, paragraph 19 of Ind AS 34, provides that an interim financial 

report shall not be described as complying with Ind AS unless it complies with all of the requirements of Ind 

AS.  

In accordance with the above, an entity describing that its interim financial report is in compliance with Ind 

AS, has to comply with all the Ind AS including Ind AS 10. 

In order to comply with the requirements of Ind AS 10, each interim financial report should be adjusted for 

the adjusting events occurring between end of the interim financial report and the date of approval by 

Board of Directors. Therefore, in the instant case, events occurring between July 1, 20X1 and July 15, 

20X1 that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the interim reporting period should be 

adjusted in the interim financial report ending June 30, 20X1. 

 

Illustration 3 
The Board of Directors of ABC Ltd. approved the financial statements for the reporting period 20X1-X2 for 

issue on June 15, 20X2. The management of ABC Ltd. discovered a major fraud and decided to reopen the 
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books of account. The financial statements were subsequently approved by the Board of Directors on June 

30, 20X2. What is the date of approval for issue as per Ind AS 10 in the given case? 

  SM PG [4.47] 
Solution 

Date of approval is the date on which the financial statements are approved by the Board of Directors in 

case of a company, and by the corresponding approving authority in case of any other entity for issue. In 

the given case, there are two dates of approval by Board of Directors. The financial statements were 

reopened for further adjustments subsequent to initial approval. The date of approval should be taken as 

the date on which financial statements are finally approved by the Board of Directors. T herefore, in the 

given case, the date of approval for issue as per Ind AS 10 should be considered as June 30, 20X2. 

 

 

Illustration 5 
While preparing its financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 20X1, XYZ Ltd. made a general 

provision for bad debts @ 5% of its debtors. In the last week of February, 20X1 a debtor for Rs. 2 lakhs had 

suffered heavy loss due to an earthquake; the loss was not covered by any insurance policy. Considering 

the event of earthquake, XYZ Ltd. made a provision @ 50% of the amount receivable from that debtor 

apart from the general provision of 5% on remaining debtors. In April, 20X1 the debtor became bankrupt. 

Can XYZ Ltd. provide for the full loss arising out of insolvency of the debtor in the financial statements for 

the year ended 31st March, 20X1? 

Would the answer be different if earthquake had taken place after 31st March, 20X1, and therefore, XYZ 

Ltd. did not make any specific provision in context that debtor and made only general provision for bad 

debts @ 5% on total debtors? 

 SM PG [4.50] 
Solution 

As per the definition of ‘Events after the Reporting Period’ and paragraph 8 of Ind AS 10, Events after the 

Reporting Period, financial statements should be adjusted for events occurring after the reporting period 

that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period. In the instant case, the 

earthquake took place before the end of the reporting period, i.e., in February 20X1. Therefore, the 

condition exists at the end of the reporting date though the debtor is declared insolvent after the reporting 

period. Accordingly, full provision for bad debt amounting to ` 2 lakhs should be made to cover the loss 

arising due to the bankruptcy of the debtor in the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 20X1. 

Since provision for bad debts on account of amount due from that particular debtor was made @ 50%, XYZ 

Ltd should provide for the remaining amount as a consequence of declaration of this debtor as bankrupt.  

In case, the earthquake had taken place after the end of the reporting period, i.e., after 31st March, 20X1, 

and XYZ Ltd. had not made any specific provision for the debtor who was declared bankrupt later on, since 

the earthquake occurred after the end of the reporting period no condition existed at the end of the 

reporting period. The company had made only general provision for bad debts in the ordinary business 

course and not to recognise the catastrophic situation of an earthquake. Accordingly, bankruptcy of the 

debtor in this case is a non-adjusting event. 

As per para 21 of Ind AS 10, if non-adjusting events after the reporting period are material, non-disclosure 

could influence the economic decisions that users make on the basis of the financial statements. 

Accordingly, an entity shall disclose the following for each material category of non-adjusting event after the 

reporting period: 

(a) the nature of the event; and 

(b) an estimate of its financial effect, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made.” 

If the amount of bad debt is considered to be material, the nature of this non-adjusting event, i.e., event of 

bankruptcy of the debtor should be disclosed along with the estimated financial effect of the same in the 

financial statements. 

 

Illustration 8 
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Company XYZ Ltd. was formed to secure the tenders floated by a telecom company for publication of 

telephone directories. It bagged the tender for publishing directories for Pune circle for 5 years. It has made 

a profit in 20X1- 20X2, 20X2-20X3, 20X3-20X4 and 20X4-20X5. It bid in tenders for publication of 

directories for other circles – Nagpur, Nashik, Mumbai, Hyderabad but as per the results declared on 23rd 

April, 20X5, the company failed to bag any of these. Its only activity till date is publication of Pune directory. 

The contract for publication of directories for Pune will expire on 31st December 20X5. The financial 

statements for the F.Y. 20X4-X5 have been approved by the Board of Directors on July 10, 20X5. Whether 

it is appropriate to prepare financial statements on going concern basis? 

SM PG [4.55] 
Solution 

With regard to going concern basis to be followed for preparation of financial statements, paras 14 & 15 of 

Ind AS 10 states that-  

An entity shall not prepare its financial statements on a going concern basis if management determines 

after the reporting period either that it intends to liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or that it has no 

realistic alternative but to do so.  

Deterioration in operating results and financial position after the reporting period may indicate a need to 

consider whether the going concern assumption is still appropriate. If the going concern assumption is no 

longer appropriate, the effect is so pervasive that this Standard requires a fundamental change in the basis 

of accounting, rather than an adjustment to the amounts recognised within the original basis of accounting. 

In accordance with the above, an entity needs to change the basis of accounting if the effect of 

deterioration in operating results and financial position is so pervasive that management determines after 

the reporting period either that it intends to liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or that it has no realistic 

alternative but to do so. 

In the instant case, since contract is expiring on 31st December 20X5 and it is confirmed on 23rd April, 

20X5, i.e., after the end of the reporting period and before the approval of the financial statements, that no 

further contact is secured, implies that the entity’s operations are expected to come to an end. Accordingly, 

if entity’s operations are expected to come to an end, the entity needs to make a judgement as to whether it 

has any realistic possibility to continue or not. In case, the entity determines that it has no realistic 

alternative of continuing the business, preparation of financial statements for 20X4-X5 and thereafter on 

going concern basis may not be appropriate. 

 

Illustration 9 
In the plant of PQR Ltd., there was a fire on 10.05.20X1 in which the entire plant was damaged and the 

loss of ` 40,00,000 is estimated. The claim with the insurance company has been filed and a recovery of ` 

27,00,000 is expected. 

The financial statements for the year ending 31.03.20X1 were approved by the Board of Directors on 12th 

June 20X1. Show how should it be disclosed? 

SM PG [4.56] 
Solution 

In the instant case, since fire took place after the end of the reporting period, it is a non-adjusting event. 

However, in accordance with paragraph 21 of Ind AS 10, disclosures regarding nonadjusting event should 

be made in the financial statements, i.e., the nature of the event and the expected financial effect of the 

same. 

With regard to going concern basis followed for preparation of financial statements, the company needs to 

determine whether it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on going concern basis, since there 

is only one plant which has been damaged due to fire. If the effect of deterioration in operating results and 

financial position is so pervasive that management determines after the reporting period either that it 

intends to liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or that it has no realistic alternative but to do so, 

preparation of financial statements for the F.Y.20X0-X1 on going concern assumption may not be 

appropriate. In that case, the financial statements may have to be prepared on a basis other than going 

concern. 
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However, if the going concern assumption is considered to be appropriate even after the fire, no 

adjustment is required in the financial statements for the year ending 31.03.20X1. 

 

Illustration 11 
What would be the treatment for dividends declared to redeemable preference shareholders after the 

reporting period but before the financial statements are approved for issue for the year 20X1-X2. Whether 

Ind AS 10 prescribes any accounting treatment for such dividends? 

SM PG [4.57] 
Solution 

Paragraph 12 of Ind AS 10 prescribes accounting treatment for dividends declared to holders of equity 

instruments. If an entity declares dividends to holders of equity instruments (as defined in Ind AS 32, 

Financial Instruments: Presentations) after the reporting period, the entity shall not recognise those 

dividends as a liability at the end of the reporting period. 

However, Ind AS 10 does not prescribe accounting treatment for dividends declared to redeemable 

preference shareholders. As per the principles of Ind AS 32, Financial Instruments: 

Presentation, a preference share that provides for mandatory redemption by the issuer for a fixed or 

determinable amount at a fixed or determinable future date, or gives the holder the right to require the 

issuer to redeem the instrument at or after a particular date for a fixed or determinable amount, is a 

financial liability. Thus, dividend payments to such preference shares are recognized as expense in the 

same way as interest on a bond. Since interest will be charged on time basis, the requirements of Ind AS 

10 regarding date of declaration of dividend not relevant for its recognition. 

 

 

Q. 4.  XY Ltd had taken a large-sized civil construction contract, for a public sector undertaking, valued at Rs. 200 

Crores. Execution of the project started during 20X1-X2, and continued in the next financial year also. 

During the course of execution of the work on May 29, 20X2, the company found while raising the 

foundation work that it had met a rocky surface and cost of contract would go up by an extra Rs. 50 crore, 

which would not be recoverable from the Contractee as per the terms of the contract. The Company’s 

financial year ended on 31st March, 20X2, and the financial statements were considered and approved by 

the Board of Directors on 15th June, 20X2. How will you treat the above in the financial statements for the 

year ended 31st March, 20X2? 

SM PG [4.65] 
Solution:  

In the instant case, the execution of work started during the F.Y. 20X1-X2 and the rocky surface was there 

at the end of the reporting period, though the existence of rocky surface is confirmed after the end of the 

reporting period as a result of which it became evident that the cost may escalate by Rs. 50 Crores. In 

accordance with the definition of ‘Events after the Reporting Period’, since the rocky surface was there, the 

condition was existing at the end of the reporting period, therefore, it is an adjusting event. The cost of the 

project and profit should be accounted for accordingly. 

 

Q.5.  A Ltd. was required to pay penalty for a breach in the performance of a contract. A Ltd. believed that the 

penalty was payable at a lower amount than the amount demanded by the other party. A Ltd. created 

provision for the penalty but also approached the arbitrator with a submission that the case may be 

dismissed with costs. A Ltd. prepared the financial statements for the year 20X1-X2, which were approved 

in July 20X2. The arbitrator, in June 20X2, awarded the case in favour of A Ltd. As a result of the award of 

the arbitrator, the provision earlier made by  

SM PG [4.65] 
 

Solution:  
In the instant case, A Ltd. approached the arbitrator before the end of the reporting period, who decided the 

award after the end of the reporting period but before approval of the financial statements for issue. 
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Accordingly, the conditions were existing at the end of the reporting date because A Ltd. had approached 

the arbitrator before the end of the reporting period whose outcome has been confirmed by the award of 

the arbitrator. Therefore, it is an adjusting event. 

Accordingly, the measurement of the provision is required to be adjusted for the event occurring after the 

reporting period. As far as the recovery of the cost by A Ltd. from the other party is concerned, this right to 

recover was a contingent asset as at the end of the reporting period.  

As per para 35 of Ind AS 37, contingent assets are assessed continually to ensure that developments are 

appropriately reflected in the financial statements. If it has become virtually certain that an inflow of 

economic benefits will arise, the asset and the related income are recognised in the financial statements of 

the period in which the change occurs. If an inflow of economic benefits has become probable, an entity 

discloses the contingent asset. 

On the basis of the above, a contingent asset should be recognised in the financial statements of the 

period in which the realisation of asset and the related income becomes virtually certain. In the instant 

case, the recovery of cost became certain when the arbitrator decided the award during F.Y. 20X2-X3. 

Accordingly, the recovery of cost should be recognised in the financial year 20X2-X3. 

 

Q.6.  A company manufacturing and supplying process control equipment is entitled to duty drawback if it 

exceeds its turnover above a specified limit. To claim duty drawback, the company needs to file application 

within 15 days of meeting the specified turnover. If application is not filed within stipulated time, the 

Department has discretionary power of giving duty draw back credit. For the year 20X1-X2, the company 

has exceeded the specified limit of turnover by the end of the reporting period but the application for duty 

drawback is filed on April 20, 20X2, which is after the stipulated time of 15 days of meeting the turnover 

condition. Duty drawback has been credited by the Department on June 28, 20X2 and financial statements 

have been approved by the Board of Directors of the company on July 26, 20X2. Whether duty drawback 

credit should be treated as an adjusting event? 

SM PG [4.65] 
Solution:  

In the instant case, the condition of exceeding the specified turnover was met at the end of the reporting 

period and the company was entitled for the duty draw back but the application for the same has been filed 

after the stipulated time. Therefore, credit of duty drawback is discretionary in the hands of the Department. 

Accordingly, the duty drawback credit is a contingent asset as at the end of the reporting period, which may 

be realised if the Department credits the same. 

As per para 35 of Ind AS 37, contingent assets are assessed continually to ensure that developments are 

appropriately reflected in the financial statements. If it has become virtually certain that an inflow of 

economic benefits will arise, the asset and the related income are recognised in the financial statements of 

the period in which the change occurs. If an inflow of economic benefits has become probable, an entity 

discloses the contingent asset. 

In accordance with the above, the duty draw back credit which was contingent asset for the F.Y. 20X1-X2 

should be recognised as asset and related income should be recognized in the reporting period in which 

the change occurs. i.e., in the period in which realisation becomes virtually certain, i.e., F.Y. 20X2-X3. 

 

 

Q.7.  XYZ Ltd. sells goods to its customer with a promise to give discount of 5% on list price of the goods 

provided that the payments are received from customer within 15 days. XYZ Ltd. sold goods of Rs. 5 lakhs 

to ABC Ltd. between 17th March, 20X2 and 31st March, 20x2. ABC Ltd. paid the dues by 15th April, 20X2 

with respect to sales made between 17th March, 20X2 and 31st March, 20X2. Financial statements were 

approved for issue by Board of Directors on 31st May, 20X2. 

State whether discount will be adjusted from the sales at the end of the reporting period.  

SM PG [4.65] 
 

Solution:  
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As per Ind AS 115, if the consideration promised in a contract includes a variable amount, an entity shall 

estimate the amount of consideration to which the entity will be entitled in exchange for transferring the 

promised goods or services to a customer. 

In the instant case, the condition that sales have been made exists at the end of the reporting period and 

the receipt of payment with 15 days time after the end of the reporting period and before the approval of the 

financial statements confirms that the discount is to be provided on those sales. Therefore, it is an adjusting 

event. Accordingly, XYZ Ltd. should adjust the sales made to ABC Ltd. with respect to discount of 5% on 

the list price of the goods. 

 

 

Q.8.  Whether the fraud related to 20X1-X2 discovered after the end of the reporting period but before the date of 

approval of financial statements for 20X3-X4 is an adjusting event? 

SM PG [4.65] 
 

Solution:  

In the instant case, the fraud is discovered after the end of the reporting period of 20X3-X4, which related 

to F.Y. 20X1-X2. Since the fraud has taken place before the end of the reporting period, the condition was 

existing which has been confirmed by the detection of the same after the end of the reporting period but 

before the approval of financial statements. Therefore, it is an adjusting event. 

Moreover, Ind AS 10 in paragraph 9, specifically provides that the discovery of fraud or error after the end 

of the reporting period, that shows that financial statements are incorrect, is an adjusting event. Such a 

discovery of fraud should be accounted for in accordance with Ind AS 8, if it meets the definition of prior 

period error. 

 

Q.9.  X Ltd. was having investment in form of equity shares in another company as at the end of the reporting 

period, i.e., 31st March, 20X2. After the end of the reporting period but before the approval of the financial 

statements it has been found that value of investment was fraudulently inflated by committing a 

computation error. Whether such event should be adjusted in the financial statements for the year 20X1-

X2? 

SM PG [4.65] 
Solution:  

Since it has been detected that a fraud has been made by committing an intentional error and as a result of 

the same financial statements present an incorrect picture, which has been detected after the end of the 

reporting period but before the approval of the financial statements. The same is an adjusting event. 

Accordingly, the value of investments in the financial statements should be adjusted for the fraudulent error 

in computation of value of investments. 
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UNIT 3: 
INDIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARD 113: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 

 

 

Q.3.   ABC Ltd. acquired 5% equity shares of XYZ Ltd. for ` 10 crore in the year 20X1-X2. The company is in 

process of preparing the financial statements for the year 20X2-X3 and is assessing the fair value at 

subsequent measurement of the investment made in XYZ Ltd. Based on the observable input, the ABC Ltd. 

identified a similar nature of transaction in which PQR Ltd. acquired 20% equity shares in XYZ Ltd. for ` 60 

crore. The price of such transaction was determined on the basis of Comparable Companies Method 

(CCM)- Enterprise Value (EV) / EBITDA which was 8. For the current year, the EBITDA of XYZ Ltd. is ` 40 

crore. At the time of acquisition, the valuation was determined after considering 5% of liquidity discount and 

5% of non-controlling stake discount. What will be the fair value of ABC Ltd.’s investment in XYZ Ltd. as on 

the balance sheet date? 

SM PG [4.92] 
Solution:  

Determination of Enterprise Value of XYZ Ltd. 
Particulars  ` in crore 
EBITDA as on the measurement date  40 

EV/EBITDA multiple as on the date of valuation  8 

Enterprise value of XYZ Ltd.  320 

 

Determination of subsequent measurement of XYZ Ltd. 
Particulars  ` in crore 
Enterprise Value of XYZ Ltd.  320 

ABC Ltd.’s share based on percentage of holding (5% of 320)  16 

Less: Liquidity discount & Non-controlling stake discount (5%+5%=10%)  (1.6) 

Fair value of ABC Ltd.’s investment in XYZ Ltd.  14.4 

 

Q. 4.  UK Ltd. is in the process of acquisition of shares of PT Ltd. as part of business reorganization plan. The 

projected free cash flow of PT Ltd. for the next 5 years are as follows: 

(` in crore) 

Particulars  Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

Cash flows  187.1 187.6 121.8 269 278.8 

Terminal Value      3,965 

The weightage average cost of capital of PT Ltd. is 11%. The total debt as on measurement date is ` 1,465 

crore and the surplus cash & cash equivalent is ` 106.14 crore. The total numbers of shares of PT Ltd. as 

on the measurement date is 8,52,84,223 shares. Determine value per share of PT Ltd. as per Income 

Approach. 

SM PG [4.92] 
 

Solution:  

 Determination of equity value of PT Ltd. 
(` in crore) 

 

Particulars Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 
Cash flows 187.1 187.6 121.8 269 278.8 

Terminal Value     3,965 

Discount rate 0.9009 0.8116 0.7312 0.6587 0.5935 
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Free Cash Flow available to the 

firm 

168.56 152.26 89.06 177.19 2,518.69 

Total of all years     3,105.76 

Less: Debt (1,465) 

Add: Cash & Cash equivalent    106.14 

Equity Value of PT Ltd. 1,746.90 

No. of Shares 85,284,223.0 

Per Share Value 204.83 

 

Q.5.  You are a senior consultant of your firm and are in process of determining the valuation of KK Ltd. You 

have determined the valuation of the company by two approaches i.e. Market Approach and Income 

approach and selected the highest as the final value. However, based upon the discussion with your 

partner you have been requested to assign equal weights to both the approaches and determine a fair 

value of shares of KK Ltd. The details of the KK Ltd. are as follows: 

SM PG [4.93] 
 

Particulars  ` in crore 
Valuation as per Market Approach  5268.2 

Valuation as per Income Approach  3235.2 

Debt obligation as on Measurement date  1465.9 

Surplus cash & cash equivalent  106.14 

Fair value of surplus assets and Liabilities  312.4 

Number of shares of KK Ltd.  8,52,84,223 shares 

Determine the Equity value of KK Ltd. as on the measurement date on the basis of above details. 

Solution:  
 

 Equity Valuation of KK Ltd. 
 

Particulars Weights (` in crore) 

As per Market Approach 50 5268.2 

As per Income Approach 50 3235.2 

Enterprise Valuation based on weights (5268.2 x 50%) + (3235.2 x 50%)  4,251.7 

Less: Debt obligation as on measurement date  (1465.9) 

Add: Surplus cash & cash equivalent  106.14 

Add: Fair value of surplus assets and liabilities    312.40 

Enterprise value of KK Ltd.  3204.33 

No. of shares  85,284,223 

Value per share  375.72 
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Chapter 6 
INDIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARD 

101: FIRST-TIME ADOPTION 
OF IND AS 

 

 

 

Example 
If the acquirer had not, in accordance with its previous GAAP, capitalised leases acquired in a past 

business combination in which acquiree was a lessee, it shall capitalise those leases  in its consolidated 

financial statements, as Ind  AS  116, would require the acquiree to  do in its Ind AS Balance Sheet. 

Similarly, if the acquirer had not, in accordance with its previous GAAP, recognised a contingent liability 

that still exists at the date of transition to Ind AS, the acquirer shall recognise that contingent liability at that 

date unless Ind AS 37 would prohibit its recognition  in the financial statements of the acquiree. 

SM PG [6.13] 
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Chapter 7 
IND AS ON ASSETS OF THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

UNIT 1 : 

INDIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARD 2 : INVENTORIES 

 

 

 

Illustration 1 
As per Ind AS 2, inventories include ‘materials and supplies awaiting use in the production process’. 

Whether packing material and publicity material are covered by the term ‘materials and supplies awaiting 

use in the production process’. 

SM PG [7.4] 
 

Solution:  

While the primary packing material may be included within the scope of the term ‘materials and supplies 

awaiting use in the production process’ but the secondary packing material and publicity material cannot be 

so included, as these are selling costs which are required to be excluded as per Ind AS 2. For this purpose, 

the primary packing material is one which is essential to bring an item of inventory to its saleable condition, 

for example, bottles, cans etc.,  in case of food and beverages industry. Other packing material required for 

transporting and forwarding the material will normally be in the nature of secondary packing material. 

 

 

Illustration 3 
As per Ind AS 2, selling costs are excluded from the cost of inventories and are required to be recognised 

as an expense in the period in which these are incurred. Whether the distribution costs would now be 

included in the cost of inventories under Ind AS 2. 

SM PG [7.10] 
Solution 

Selling and distribution costs are generally used as single term because both are related, as selling costs 

are incurred to effect the sale and the distribution costs are incurred by the seller to complete a sale 

transaction by making the goods available to the buyer from the point of sale to the point at which the buyer 

takes possession. Since these costs are not related to bringing the goods to their present location and 

condition, the same are not included in the cost of inventories. Accordingly, though the word ‘distribution 

costs’ is not specifically mentioned in Ind AS 2, these costs would continue to be excluded from the cost of 

inventories. 

 

Illustration 8 
Whether the following costs should be considered while determining the Net Realisable Value (NRV) of the 

inventories? 

(a) Costs of completion of work-in-progress; 

(b) Trade discounts expected to be allowed on sale; and 

(c) Cash discounts expected to be allowed for prompt payment 

SM PG [7.17] 
 

Solution 
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Ind AS 2 defines Net Realisable Value as the “estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business 

less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.” 

Costs of completion of work-in-progress are incurred to convert the work-in-progress into finished goods. 

Since these costs are in the nature of completion costs, in accordance with the above definition, the same 

should be deducted from the estimated selling price to determine the NRV of work-in- progress. 

The Guidance Note on Terms Used in Financial Statements defines Trade Discount as “A reduction 

granted by a supplier from the list price of goods or services on business considerations other than for 

prompt payment”. 

Trade discount is allowed either expressly through an agreement or through prevalent commercial 

practices in the terms of the trade and the same is adjusted in arriving at the selling price. Accordingly, the 

trade discount expected to be allowed should be deducted to determine the estimated selling price. 

The Guidance Note on Terms Used in Financial Statements defines Cash Discount as “A reduction granted 

by a supplier from the invoiced price in consideration of immediate payment or payment within a stipulated 

period.” 

These type of costs are incurred to recover the sale proceeds immediately or before the end of the 

specified period or credit period allowed to the customer. In other words, these costs are not incurred to 

make the sale, therefore, the same should not be considered while determining NRV. 
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UNIT 2 : 

INDIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARD 16 : PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

 

Illustration 11 

X Limited started Construction on a building for  its own use on 1st April, 20X0. The following costs are 

incurred: 

 

Purchase price of land 30,00,000 

Stamp duty & legal fee 2,00,000 

Architect fee 2,00,000 

Site preparation 50,000 

Materials 10,00,000 

Direct labour cost 4,00,000 

General overheads 1,00,000 

 

Other relevant information: Material costing ` 1,00,000 had been spoiled and therefore wasted and  a 

further ` 1,50,000 was spent on account of faulty design work. As a result of  these problems,  work on the 

building was stopped for two weeks during November, 20X0 and it is estimated that ` 22,000 of the labour 

cost relate to that period. The building was completed on 1st January, 20X1 and brought in use 1st April, 

20X1. X Limited had taken a loan of ` 40,00,000 on 1st April, 20X0 for construction of the building (which 

meets the definition of qualifying asset as per Ind AS 23). The  loan carried an interest rate of 8% per 

annum and is repayable on 1st April, 20X2. 

Calculate the cost of the building that will be included in tangible non-current asset as an addition? 

SM PG [7.56] 
Solution 

Only those costs which are directly attributable to bringing the asset into working condition for its intended 

use should be included. Administration and general costs cannot be included. Cost of abnormal amount of 

wasted material/ labor or other resources is not included as per para 22 of Ind AS 16. Here, the cost of 

spoilt materials and faulty designs are assumed to be abnormal costs. Also it is assumed that the wastages 

and labor charges incurred are abnormal in nature. Hence, same are also not included in the cost of PPE. 

Amount to be included in Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE): 

 

 `  

Purchase price of land  

Stamp duty & legal fee  

Architect fee 

Site preparation 

Material (10,00,000 – 2,50,000) 

Direct labour cost (4,00,000 – 22,000)  

General overheads 

Interest* (Old Solution it was added at 240,000)  

Total to be capitalized 

30,00,000 

2,00,000 

2,00,000 

50,000 

7,50,000 

3,78,000 

Nil       

              Nil  

45,78,000 
 

*Period for Construction of building is not a substantial period (i.e. 9 months), borrowing cost are not 

eligible for capitalisation. 
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Chapter 8 
INDIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARD 

41: AGRICULTURE 
 

Illustration 3 
XYZ Ltd., on 1st December, 20X3, purchased 100 sheep from a market for ` 5,00,000. The transaction cost 

of 2% on the market price of the sheep was incurred which was paid by the seller. Sheep’s fair value 

increased from ` 500,000 to ` 600,000 on 31st March, 20X4. Transaction cost of 2% would have to be 

incurred by the seller to get the sheep to the relevant market. 

Determine the fair value on the date of purchase and the reporting date and pass necessary journal entries 

thereon. 

SM PG [8.8] 
 

Solution 
The fair value less cost to sell of sheep’s on the date of purchase would be ` 4,90,000 (5,00,000-10,000). 

Expense of ` 10,000 would be recognised in profit and loss. 

On date of Purchase 

Biological Asset    Dr.  4,90,000 

Loss on initial recognition   Dr.  10,000 

To Bank      5,00,000 

(Being biological asset purchased) 

 

On 31st March, 20X4 sheep would be measured at ` 5,88,000 as Biological Asset (6,00,000- 12,000) and 

gain of ` 98,000 (5,88,000 - 4,90,000) would be recognised in profit or loss.  

At the end of reporting period 

Biological Asset    Dr.  98,000 

To Gain – Change in fair value    98,000 

(Being change in fair value recognised at the end of reporting period) 
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Chapter 9 
IND AS ON LIABILITIES OF 

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

UNIT 1: 
INDIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARD 19: EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

 

 

Illustration 4 
AJ Ltd is engaged in the business of trading of chemicals having a net worth of ` 150 crores. The 

company’s profitability is good and hence the company has introduced various benefits for its employees to 

keep them motivated and to ensure that they stay with the organization. The company is an associate of RJ 

Ltd which is listed on Bombay Stock Exchange in India. 

The company initially did not have any HR function but over the last 2 years, the management set up that 

function and now HR department takes care of all the benefits related to the employees and how they can 

be structured in a manner beneficial to both the employees and the objectives of the company. 

One of the employee benefits involves a lump sum payment to employee on termination of service and that 

is equal to 1 per cent of final salary for each year of service. Consider the salary in year 1 is ` 10,000 and is 

assumed to increase at 7 per cent (compound) each year. Taking a discount rate at 10 per cent per year, 

you are required to show 

(a)  benefits attributed (year on year) and 

(b)  the obligation in respect of this benefit (year on year) 

For and employee who is expected to leave at the end of year 5 

Following assumptions may be taken to solve this: 

• There are no changes in actuarial assumptions. 

• No additional adjustments are needed to reflect the probability that the employee may leave the entity 

at an earlier or later date. 

SM PG [9.25] 
 

Solution 
a.  Computation of benefit attributed to prior years and current year:  

Amount in `  

 

Year 1 2 3 4 5 

Benefit attributed to:      

- Prior years - 131 262 393 524 

- Current year (Refer W.N.1) 131 131 131 131 131 

Total (i.e. current and prior years) 131 262 393 524 655 
 

b.  Computation of the obligation for an employee who is expected to leave at the end of year 5 (taking 

discount rate of 10% p.a.)  

Amount in ` 
Year 1 2 3 4 5 

Opening obligation (A) - 89 196 324 475 
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Interest at 10% B = (A X 10%) - 9 20 32 47 

Current service cost (C) (Refer WN 2) 89 98 108 119 131 

Closing obligation D = (A+B+C) 89 196 324 475 653 

 

Figures have been rounded off in the above table. 

Working Notes 

1.  A lump sum benefit is payable on termination of service and equal to 1 per cent of final salary for 

each year of service. The salary in year 1 is ` 10,000 and is assumed to increase at 7 per cent 

(compound) each year. 

The year on year salary would be as follows:        `  

Year 1 2 3 4 5 

Salary 10,000 10,700 11,449 12,250 13,108 

  (10,000 x 107%) (10,700 x 107%) (11,449 x 107%) (12,250 x 107%) 

 

 

Accordingly, for the purpose of above mentioned employee benefit, 1% of final salary to be 

considered for each year of service would be ` 131. 

2.  Computation of current service cost:         `    

Year 1 2 3 4 5 

1% salary at the end of year 5 - - - - 131 

PV factor at the end of each year to be 

considered at 10% p.a. (E) 
0.683 0.751 0.826 0.909 1.000 

PV at the end of each year 89 

(131 x E) 

98 

(131 x 

E) 

108 

(131 x E) 

119 

(131 x E) 

131 

(131 x 

E) 

 

Accordingly, for the purpose of above mentioned employee benefit, 1% of final salary to be 

considered for each year of service would be ` 131. 

 

 

 

Illustration 7 
A plan pays a benefit of ` 150 for each year of service, excluding service before the age of 25. The benefits 

vest immediately. Compute the benefit to be attributed each year?  

SM PG [9.28] 
Solution 

No benefit is attributed to the service before the age of 25 because service before that date does not lead 

to benefits (conditional or unconditional). A benefit of ` 150 is attributed to each subsequent year. 

 

 

Illustration 10 
AKJ Ltd is a listed company engaged in the business of manufacturing of electronic equipment. The 

company has various branch offices spread out across India and has 1,000 employees. As per the 

statutory requirements, gratuity shall be payable to an employee on the termination of his employment after 

he has rendered continuous service for not less than five years - 
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(a) on his superannuation, or 

(b) on his retirement or resignation, or 

(c) on his death or disablement due to accident or disease. 

The completion of continuous service of five years shall not be necessary where the termination of the 

employment of any employee is due to death or disablement.  

The amount payable is determined by a formula linked to number of years of service and last drawn salary. 

The amount payable to an employee shall not exceed ` 10,00,000. Compute the amount of employee 

benefit, if any, attributed to each year of service. 

SM PG [9.30] 
 

Solution 
The amount of gratuity would be attributed to each year of service and calculated as follows:  

Number of employees not likely to fulfill the eligibility criteria will be ignored.  

Other employees will be grouped according to period of service they are expected to render taking into 

account: 

• mortality rate, 

• disablement and 

• resignation after 5 years. 

Gratuity payable will be calculated in accordance with the formula prescribed in the governing statute 

based on the period of service and the salary at the time of termination of employment, assuming 

promotion, salary increases etc. 

For those employees for whom the amount payable as per the formula does not exceed ` 10,00,000, over 

the expected period of service, the amount payable will be divided by the expected period of service and 

the resulting amount will be attributed to each year of the expected period of service, including the period 

before the stipulated period of 5 years. 

In case of the remaining employees, the amount as per the formula exceeds ` 10,00,000 over the expected 

period of service of 10 years, and the amount of the threshold of ` 10,00,000 is reached at the end of 8 

years i.e. ` 1,25,000 (` 10,00,000 divided by 8) is attributed to each of the first 8 years. In this case, no 

benefit is attributed to subsequent two years. This is because service beyond 8 years will lead to no 

material amount of further benefits. 

 

Illustration 11 
RKA Private Ltd is an old company established in 19XX. The company started with a very small capital 

base and today it is one of the leading companies in India in its industry. The company has an annual 

turnover of ` 11,000 crores and planning to get listed in the next year.  

The company has a large employee base. The company provided a defined benefit plan to its employees. 

Following is the information relating to the balances of the fund’s assets and liabilities as at 1st April, 20X1 

and 31st March, 20X2. ` in lacs 

 

Particulars 1st April, 20X1 31st March, 20X2 

Present value of benefit obligation 1,400 1,580 

Fair value of plan assets 1,140 1,275 

 

 

For the financial year ended 31st March, 20X2, service cost was ` 55 lacs. The company made a 

contribution of an amount of ` 111 lacs to the plan. No benefits were paid during the year. Consider a 

discount rate of 8%. 

You are required to - 
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(a)   Compute the balance(s) of the company to be included its balance sheet as on 31st March, 20X2 

and amounts to be recognized in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income 

for the year ended 31st March, 20X2. 

(b)  Give the journal entries in respect of amount(s) to be recognized. 

SM PG [9.40] 
Solution 

(a)  Extract of the Balance Sheet of RKA Private Ltd as at 31st March, 20X2 ` in lacs 

Closing net defined liability (1,580 – 1,275) lacs 305 

Extract of the Statement of Profit or Loss of RKA Private Ltd for the year ended 31st March, 20X2 

 

Particulars ` in lacs 

Service cost 55 

Net interest (Refer W.N.1) 21 

Profit or loss 76 

Other comprehensive income:  

Remeasurements (Refer W.N.2)   80 

Total 156 
 

(b)  Journal entries in the books of RKA Private Ltd 

 

Particulars ` in lacs ` in lacs 

Profit & Loss Dr. 76  

Other comprehensive income Dr. 80  

To Cash (Contribution)  111 

To Net defined benefit liability (Refer WN 3)  45 

 

 

 

Working Notes: 

1.  Computation of Net interest taken to the Statement of Profit or Loss 

= Discount rate x Opening net defined benefit liability 

= 8% x (1,400 – 1,140) lacs 

= 8% x 260 lacs 

= 21 lacs (Rounded off to nearest lacs) 

2.  Computation of Remeasurements 

Actuarial gain or loss on defined benefit liability: 

 

Particulars ` in lacs 

Opening balance of liability 1,400 

Current service cost 55 

Interest on opening liability (1,400 x 8%) 112 
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Actuarial loss (Bal. fig)     13 

Closing balance of liability 1,580 
 

Actual return on plan assets: 

Particulars ` in lacs 

Opening balance of asset 1,140 

Cash contribution 111 

Actual return (Bal. fig)     24 

Closing balance of asset 1,275 
 

Net interest on opening balance of plan asset = ` 91 lacs (i.e. ` 1,140 lacs x 8%) (Rounded off to 

nearest lacs) 

Hence there is a decrease in plan assets due to remeasurement for which computation is as 

follows: 

Actual Return – Net interest on opening plan asset 

= ` 24 lacs – ` 91 lacs = ` 67 lacs. 

Net remeasurement would be computed as follows:  
Actuarial loss on liability + Loss on return 

= ` 13 lacs + ` 67 lacs = ` 80 lacs. 

 

3.  Computation of increase/ decrease in net defined benefit liability: 

 

Particulars ` in lacs 

Opening net liability (` 1,400 lacs – ` 1,140 lacs) 260 

Closing net liability (` 1,580 lacs – ` 1,275 lacs) 305 

Increase in liability   45 
 

 

Q.1.  An entity has 100 employees, who are each entitled to five working days of paid sick leaves for each year. 

Unused sick leave may be carried forward for one calendar year. Sick leave is taken first out of the current 

year's entitlement and then out of any balance brought forward from the previous year (LIFO basis).  

At 31st March, 20X1, the average unused entitlement is two days per employee. The entity expects, on the 

basis of experience that is expected to continue, that 92 employees will take no more than five days of paid 

sick leaves in 20X1-20X2 and that the remaining eight employees will take an average of six and a half 

days each. 

The entity expects that it will pay an additional twelve days of sick pay as a result of the unused entitlement 

that has accumulated at 31st March, 20X1 (one and a half days each, for eight employees). Would the 

entity require to recognize any liability in respect of leaves? 

 

SM PG [9.58] 
 

 

Solution:  

At 31st March, 20X1, the average unused entitlement is two days per employee. The entity expects, on the 

basis of experience that is expected to continue, that 92 employees will take no more than five days of paid 
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sick leaves in 20X1-20X2 and that the remaining eight employees will take an average of six and a half 

days each. 

The entity expects that it will pay an additional twelve days of sick pay as a result of the unused entitlement 

that has accumulated at 31st March, 20X1 (one and a half days each, for eight employees). 

Therefore, the entity would recognize a liability equal to twelve days of sick pay. 

 

 

Q.6.  OPQ Ltd is a listed company having its corporate office at Nagpur. The company has a branch office at 

Chennai. The company has been operating in Indian market for the last 10 years. 

The company operates a pension plan that provides a pension of 2.5% of the final salary for each year of 

service. The benefits become vested after seven years of service. 

On 1st April, 20X8, the company increased the pension to 3% of the final salary for each year of service 

starting from 1st April, 20X1. On the date of the improvement, the present value of the additional benefits 

for service from 1st April, 20X1 to 1 April 20X8 was as follows: 

• Employees with more than seven years’ service on 1 January 20X8 – ` 2,75,000  

• Employees with less than 7 years of service – ` 2,21,000 (average 4 years to go).  

What would be the accounting treatment in this case? 

SM PG [9.59] 
 

Solution:  

OPQ Ltd increased the pension to 3% of the final salary for each year of service starting from 1st April, 

20X1 to 1st April, 20X8. 

The company would recognize the total amount of ` 4,96,000 (i.e. ` 2,75,000 + ` 2,21,000) immediately, as 

for the purpose of recognition it does not make any difference as to whether the benefits are already vested 

or not. 

 

 

Q.7.  SA Pvt Ltd is engaged in the business of retail having 100 retail outlets across Northern and Southern 

India. The company’’s head office is located at Chennai. SA Pvt Ltd is a subsidiary of SAG Ltd. SAG Ltd is 

listed on the National Stock Exchange in India. 

Following information is available for SA Pvt Ltd: 

Plan Assets 
At 1st April, 20X1, the fair value of plan assets was ` 10,000. 

Contribution to the plan assets done on 31st March, 20X2 – ` 3,000 

Amount paid on 31st March, 20X2 – ` 300 

At 31st March, 20X2, the fair value of plan assets was ` 14,700 

Actual return on plan assets – ` 2,000 

 
Defined Benefit Obligation 
At 1st April, 20X1, present value of the defined benefit obligation was ` 12,000. 

At 31st March, 20X2, present value of the defined benefit obligation was ` 15,500. 

Actuarial losses on the obligation for the year ended 31st March, 20X2 were ` 100. 

 

Current Service Cost – ` 2,500 

Benefit paid – ` 300 

Discount rate used to calculate defined benefit liability - 10%. 

As per Ind AS 19, please suggest if there is any amount based on the above mentioned information that 

would be taken to other comprehensive income (with workings). Also compute net interest on the net 

defined benefit liability (asset). 

SM PG [9.59] 
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Solution:  
As per Ind AS 19, net remeasurement of ` 900 would be recognized in other comprehensive income. 

Computation of Net remeasurement 

=  Remeasurement – Actuarial loss 

= ` 1000 (Refer WN - 1) – ` 100 (Given in the question) 

= ` 900. 

Computation of net interest expense 
 

Particulars Amount in ` 
Defined benefit liability as at 1 April 20X1 (A)(Given in the question) 12,000 

Fair value of plan asset as at 1 April 20X1 (B) (Given in the question) (10,000) 

Net defined benefit liability (A - B)     2,000 

Net interest expense (as it is net liability) (Refer note given below) 200 

 

Note: 
Net interest expense would be computed on net defined benefit liability using discount rate of 

10% given in the question- 

= Net defined benefit liability x Discount rate 

= 2,000 x 10% 

= ` 200. 

Working Note: 
Computation of amount of remeasurement 
Particulars Amount in ` 

Actual return on plan asset for the year ended 31 March 20X2 (C) 
(Given in the question) 

2,000 

Less: Interest income on ` 10,000 held for 12 months at 10% (D) (1,000) 

Remeasurement (E = C - D)   1,000 
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Chapter 10 
UNIT 2 : 

INDIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARD 21 : THE EFFECTS OF 

CHANGES IN FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATES 

 

Illustration 3 
A is an Oman based company having a foreign operation, B, in India. The foreign operation was primarily 

set up to execute a construction project in India. The functional currency of A is OMR. 

78% of entity B ’s finances have been raised in USD by way of contribution from A. B’s bank accounts 

are maintained in USD as well as INR. Cash flows generated by  B are transferred to  A  on a monthly 

basis in USD in respect of repayment of finance received from A. 

Revenues of B are in USD. Its competitors are globally based. Tendering for the construction project 

happened in USD. 

B incurs 70% of the cost in INR and remaining 30% costs in USD. 

Since B is located in India can it can presume its functional currency to be INR? 

SM PG [10.68] 
Solution 

No, B cannot presume INR to be its functional currency on the basis of its location. It needs to consider 

various factors listed in Ind AS for determination of functional currency. 

Primary indicators: 

1. the currency that mainly influences 

(a) sales prices for its goods and services. This will often be the currency in which sales 

prices are denominated and settled; and of the country whose competitive forces and 

regulations mainly determine the sales prices of its goods and services. 

(b) labour, material and other costs of providing goods and services. This will often be the 

currency in which these costs are denominated and settled. 

2. Other factors that may provide supporting evidence to determine an entity’s functional currency 

are (Secondary indicators): 

(a) the currency in which funds from financing activities (i.e. issuing debt and equity 

instruments) are generated; and 

(b) the currency in which receipts from operating activities are usually retained. 

3. If an entity is a foreign operation, additional factors set out in Ind AS 21 should be considered 

to determine whether its functional currency is the same as that of the reporting entity of which 

it is a subsidiary, branch, associate or joint venture: 

(a) Whether the activities of foreign operations are carried out as an extension of that 

reporting entity, rather than being carried out with a significant degree of autonomy; 

(b) Whether the transactions with the reporting entity are a high or a low proportion of the 

foreign operation’s activities; 

(c) Whether cash flows from the activities of the foreign operations directly affect the cash 

flows of the reporting entity and are readily available for remittance to it. 

(d) Whether cash flows from the activities of the foreign operation are sufficient to service 

existing and normally expected debt obligation without funds being made available by 

the reporting entity. 

On the basis of additional factors mentioned in point 3 above, B cannot be said to have functional 

currency same as that of A Ltd. 

Hence primary and secondary indicators should be used for the determination of functional currency of B 
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giving priority to primary indicators. The analysis is given below: 

• Its significant revenues and competitive forces are in USD. 

• Its significant portion of cost is incurred in INR. Only 30% costs are in USD. 

• 78% of its finances have been raised in USD. 

• It retains its operating cash flows partially in USD and partially in INR. 

Keeping these factors in view, USD should be considered as the functional currency of B. 

 

Illustration 4 
S Ltd is a company based out of India which got listed on Bombay Stock Exchange in the financial year 

ended 31st March, 20X1. Since then the company’s operations have increased considerably. The 

company was engaged in the business of  trading of  motor cycles.  The company only deals  in 

imported Motor cycles. These motor cycles are imported from US. 

After importing the motor cycles, these are sold across India through its various distribution channels. 

The company had only private customers earlier but the company also  started  corporate tie-up and 

increased its customer base to corporates also. The purchase of the motor cycles are in USD because 

the vendor(s) from whom these motor cycles are purchased those are all located in US. 

All other operating expenses of the company are incurred in India only because of its location and they 

generally happen to be in INR 

Currently, its customers are both corporate and private in the ratio of 70:30 approximately. The USD 

denominated prices of motor cycles in India are different from those in other countries. 

The company is also expecting that in the coming years, its customers base will increase significantly in 

India and the current proportion may also change. 

Currently, the invoices are raised to the corporate customers in USD for the purpose of hedging. However, 

private customers don’t accept the same arrangement and hence invoices are raised to them in INR. 

What would be the functional currency of this company? 

SM PG [10.69] 
Solution 

The functional currency of S Ltd is INR. 

Following factors need to be considered for determination of functional currency: 

Primary indicators 
1. the currency that mainly influences 

(a) sales prices for its goods and services. This will often be the currency in which sales 

prices are denominated and settled; and of the country whose competitive forces and 

regulations mainly determine the sales prices of its goods and services. 

(b) labour, material and other costs of providing goods and services. This will often be the 

currency in which these costs are denominated and settled. 

2. Other factors that may provide supporting evidence to determine an entity’s functional currency 

are (Secondary indicators): 

(a) the currency in which funds from financing activities (i.e. issuing debt and equity 

instruments) are generated; and 

(b) the currency in which receipts from operating activities are usually retained. 

Primary and secondary indicators should be  used for the determination of  functional currency of S 

Ltd. giving priority to primary indicators. 

 

The analysis is given below: 

Ind AS 21 gives greater emphasis to the currency of the economy that determines the pricing of 
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transactions, as opposed to the currency in which transactions are denominated. 

Sales prices for motor cycles are mainly influenced by the competitive forces and regulations in India. 

The market for motor cycles depends on the economic situation in India and the company is in 

competition with importers of other motor cycle brands. 

Even though 70% of the revenue of the company is denominated in USD, Indian economic conditions are 

the main factors affecting the prices. This is evidenced by the fact that USD denominated sales prices in 

India are different from USD denominated sales prices for the same motor cycles in other countries. 

Management is able to determine the functional currency because the revenue is clearly influenced by 

the Indian economic environment and expenses are mixed. 

On the basis of above analysis, INR should be considered as the functional currency of the company. 

 

 

Illustration 8 
M Ltd is engaged in the business of manufacturing of bottles for pharmaceutical companies and non-

pharmaceutical companies. It has a wholly owned subsidiary, G Ltd, which is engaged in the business of 

pharmaceuticals. G Ltd purchases the pharmaceutical bottles from its parent company. The demand of G 

Ltd is very high and the operations of M Ltd are very large and hence to cater to its shortfall, G Ltd also 

purchases the bottles from other companies. Purchases are made at the competitive prices. 

M Ltd sold pharmaceuticals bottles to G Ltd for Euro 12 lacs on 1st February, 20X1. The cost of these 

bottles was ` 830 lacs in the books of M Ltd at the time of sale. At the year-end i.e. 31st March, 20X1, all 

these bottles were lying as closing stock with G Ltd. What should be the accounting treatment for the 

above? 

Following additional information is available: 

Exchange rate on 1st February, 20X1   1 Euro = ` 83 

Exchange rate on 31st March, 20X1   1 Euro = ` 85 

SM PG [10.82] 
Solution 

Accounting treatment in the books of M Ltd 
M Ltd will recognize sales of ` 996 lacs (12 lacs Euro X 83) 

Profit on sale of inventory = 996 lacs – 830 lacs = ` 166 lacs. 

 
Accounting treatment in the books of G Ltd 
G Ltd will recognize inventory on 1st February, 20X1 of Euro 12 lacs which will also be its closing stock at 

year end. 

 
Accounting treatment in the consolidated financial statements  
Receivable and payable in respect of above mentioned sale / purchase between M Ltd and G Ltd will get 

eliminated. 

The closing stock of G Ltd will be translated at year end resulting in amount of closing stock of ` 1,020 lacs 

(12 lacs Euro X 85). 

The restated amount of closing stock includes three components– 

• Restated amount of cost of inventory for ` 850 lacs 

• Profit element of ` 166 lacs; and 

• Translated amount of profit element of ` 4 lacs. 

At the time of consolidation, the two elements amounting to ` 170 lacs will be eliminated from the closing 

stock. 
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Q.2.  Entity A, whose functional currency is `, has a foreign operation, Entity B, with a Euro functional currency. 

Entity B issues to A perpetual debt (i.e. it has no maturity) denominated in euros with an annual interest 

rate of 6 per cent. The perpetual debt has no issuer call option or holder put option. Thus, contractually it is 

just an infinite stream of interest payments in Euros. In A's consolidated financial statements, can the 

perpetual debt be considered, in accordance with Ind AS 21.15, a monetary item "for which settlement is 

neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future" (i.e. part of A's net investment in B), with the 

exchange gains and losses on the perpetual debt therefore being recorded in equity? 

SM PG [10.88] 
 

Solution:  
Yes, as per Ind AS 21 net investment in a foreign operation is the amount of the reporting entity’s interest in 

the net assets of that operation.  

As per para 15 of Ind AS 21, an entity may have a monetary item that is receivable from or payable to a 

foreign operation. An item for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable 

future is, in substance, a part of the entity’s net investment in that foreign operation. Such monetary items 

may include long-term receivables or loans. They do not include trade receivables or trade payables. 

Analysis on the basis of above mentioned guidance 
Through the origination of the perpetual debt, A has made a permanent investment in B. The interest 

payments are treated as interest receivable by A and interest payable by B, not as repayment of the 

principal debt. Hence, the fact that the interest payments are perpetual does not mean that settlement is 

planned or likely to occur. The perpetual debt can be considered part of A's net investment in B.  

In accordance with para 15 of Ind AS 21, the foreign exchange gains and losses should be recorded in 

equity at the consolidated level because settlement of that perpetual debt is neither planned nor likely to 

occur. 
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Chapter 12 
UNIT 3: 

CLASSIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL 

ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

 

 

Exception 
Some prepayment options could result in other party being forced to accept negative compensation – e.g. 

the lender receives an amount less than the unpaid amounts of principal and interest if the borrower 

chooses to prepay.  

Earlier, these instruments being measured at FVTPL. However, now after amendment, such financial 

assets could be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI if they meet the other relevant requirements of 

IFRS 9. 

To be eligible for the exception, the fair value of the prepayment feature would have to be insignificant on 

initial recognition of the asset. If this is impracticable to assess based on the facts and circumstances that 

existed on initial recognition of the asset, then the exception would not be available. Also financial assets 

prepayable at current fair value would be measured at FVTPL. The same would apply if the prepayment 

amount includes the fair value cost to terminate a hedging instrument if the amount is inconsistent with the 

current IFRS 9 prepayment rules. 

 

SM PG [12.68] 
 

Illustration 32:  
Life time expected credit losses (provision matrix for short term receivables) 

Company M, a manufacturer, has a portfolio of trade receivables of CU30 million in 20X1 and operates only 

in one geographical region. The customer base consists of a large number of small clients and the trade 

receivables are categorised by common risk characteristics that are representative of the customers' 

abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms. The trade receivables do not 

have a significant financing component in accordance with Ind AS 115. In accordance with paragraph 

5.5.15 of Ind AS 109 the loss allowance for such trade receivables is always measured at an amount equal 

to lifetime expected credit losses. 

Please use the following information of debtors outstanding: 

 

Current CU 15,000,000 

1–30 days past due CU 7,500,000 

31–60 days past due CU 4,000,000 

61–90 days past due CU 2,500,000 

More than 90 days past due CU 1,000,000 

 CU 30,000,000 
 

Company M uses following default rates for making provisions: 

 Current 1–30 days 
past due 

31–60 
days past 
due 

61–90 days 
past due 

More than 90 days 
past due 

Default rate 0.3% 1.6% 3.6% 6.6% 10.6% 

 

Determine the expected credit losses for the portfolio 
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SM PG [12.101] 
 

Solution 
To determine the expected credit losses for the portfolio, Company M uses a provision matrix.  

The provision matrix is based on its historical observed default rates over the expected life of the trade 

receivables and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At every reporting date the historical observed 

default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed. In this case it is 

forecast that economic conditions will deteriorate over the next year. 

 

On that basis, Company M estimates the following provision matrix: 

 

 Current 1–30 days 
past due 

31–60 days 
past due 

61–90 days 
past due 

More than 90 
days past due 

Default rate 0.3% 1.6% 3.6% 6.6% 10.6% 

 

 

The trade receivables from the large number of small customers amount to CU 30 million and are 

measured using the provision matrix. 

  Gross carrying 
amount 

Lifetime expected credit loss allowance 
(Gross carrying amount x lifetime 

expected credit loss rate) 
Current CU 15,000,000 CU 45,000 

1–30 days past due CU 7,500,000 CU 120,000 

31–60 days past due CU 4,000,000 CU 144,000 

61–90 days past due CU 2,500,000 CU 165,000 

More than 90 days past due CU 1,000,000 CU 106,000 

 CU 30,000,000 CU 580,000 
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Chapter 14 
UNIT 4: 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Illustration 1 
Following is the structure of a group headed by PQR Limited 

 

 

 

 

 

Whether XYZ Limited can avail the exemption from the preparation and presentation of consolidated 

financial statements? What if the facts are the same as above except that, AB Limited and BC Limited are 

both owned by an Individual (Mr. X) instead of PQR Limited?  

Under both the scenarios, XYZ Limited wishes to avail the exemption provided in Ind AS 110 from the 

presentation of consolidated financial statements. Assuming other conditions for such exemption are 

fulfilled, whether XYZ Limited is required to inform its other owner BC Limited (owning 40%) of its intention 

to not prepare consolidated financial statements? 

SM PG [14.22] 
Solution 

As per paragraph 4(a)(i) of Ind AS 110, a parent need not present consolidated financial statements if it is 

a: 

• wholly-owned subsidiary; or 

• is a partially-owned subsidiary of another entity and all its other owners, including those not otherwise 

entitled to vote, have been informed about, and do not object to, the parent not presenting consolidated 

financial statements. 

In Scenario I, although XYZ Limited is a partly-owned subsidiary of AB Limited, it is the wholly- owned 

subsidiary of PQR Limited and therefore satisfies the condition 4(a)(i) of Ind AS 110 without regard to the 

relationship with its immediate owners, i.e.  AB  Limited  and  BC  Limited.  Thus,  XYZ Limited being the 

wholly owned subsidiary is not required to inform its other owner BC Limited of its intention not to prepare 

the consolidated financial statements. 

PQR Limited 

AB Limited (Wholly- owned 

subsidiary of PQR Limited) 

100% 

60% 

100% 

RST limited (Subsidiary) 

40% 

BC Limited (Wholly- owned 

subsidiary of PQR Limited) 

XYZ Limited 

60% owned by AB Limited 

40% owned by BC Limited 
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Therefore, XYZ Limited may take the exemption given under Ind AS 110 from presentation of consolidated 

financial statements. 

In Scenario II, XYZ Limited is ultimately wholly in control of Mr. X (i.e., an individual) and hence it cannot be 

considered as a wholly owned subsidiary of an entity. 

This is because Ind AS 110 makes use of the term ‘entity’ and the word 'entity’ includes a company as well 

as any other form of entity.  Since, Mr. X is an ‘individual’ and not an ‘entity’, therefore, XYZ Limited cannot 

be considered as wholly owned subsidiary of an entity. 

Therefore, in the given case, XYZ Limited is a partially-owned subsidiary of another entity. Accordingly, in 

order to avail the exemption, its other owner, BC Limited should be informed about and do not object to 

XYZ Limited not presenting consolidated financial statements.  Further, for  the purpose of consolidation of 

AB Limited and BC Limited, XYZ Limited will be required to provide relevant financial information as per Ind 

AS. 

 

Illustration 2 
Following is the structure of a group headed by PQR Limited: 

 

 

State whether PQR Limited and XYZ Limited are required from their respective reporting standpoint to 

present consolidated financial statements? Assume that the other conditions mentioned under paragraph 

4(a)(i) to 4(a)(iii) related to such exceptions are satisfied for above entities. 

SM PG [14.23] 
Solution 

As per paragraph 4(a) of Ind AS 110, a parent need not present consolidated financial statements if it 

meets all the conditions specified therein. One of the condition as mentioned under paragraph 4(a)(iv) for 

the exemption from the presentation of consolidated financial statements is if ultimate or any intermediate 

parent of the parent entity produces financial statements that are available for public use and comply with 

Ind AS, in which subsidiaries are consolidated or are measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

in accordance with Ind AS 110. 

Further, paragraph 4B of Ind AS 110 specifically provides that an investment entity shall not present 

consolidated financial statements if it is required by the Standard to measure all of its subsidiaries at 

FVTPL as provided in paragraph 31 of Ind AS 110. 

Paragraphs 31 and 32 of Ind AS 110 provide that an investment entity shall measure an investment in a 

subsidiary at FVTPL in accordance with Ind AS 109. However, if the subsidiary is not itself an investment 

entity and whose main purpose and activities are providing services that relate to the investment entity’s 

investment activities, then the investment entity shall consolidate that subsidiary. 

PQR Limited (Non - investment entity) 

XYZ Limited (Investment entity) Subsidiary of ABC Limited 

A Limited (Non - investment entity) 

Subsidiary of XYZ Limited Carrying on 

services that relate to investment 

activities of XYZ Limited. 

B Limited (Non - investment 

entity) Subsidiary of XYZ 

limited. 

100% 100% 

100% 
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Paragraph 33 further provides that, a parent of an investment entity shall consolidate all entities that it 

controls, including those controlled through an investment entity subsidiary, unless the parent itself is an 

investment entity. 

 

 

Illustration 9 
AB Limited owns 50% voting shares in XY Limited. The board of directors of XY Limited consists of six 

members of which three directors are nominated by AB Limited and three other investors nominate one 

director each pursuant to a Shareholders’ Agreement among them. All decisions concerning ‘relevant 

activities’ of XY Limited are taken at its board meeting by a simple majority. As per the articles of 

association, one of the directors nominated by AB Limited chairs the board meetings and has a casting 

vote in the event that the directors cannot reach a majority decision. Whether AB Limited has control over 

XY Limited? 

SM PG [14.31] 
Solution 

Paragraph 11 of Ind AS 110 states that, “power arises from rights. Sometimes assessing power is straight 

forward, such as when power over an investee is obtained directly and solely from the voting rights granted 

by equity instruments such as shares, and can be assessed by considering the voting rights from those 

shareholdings. In other cases, the assessment will be more complex and require more than one factor to 

be considered, for example when power results from one or more contractual arrangements”.  

Further, paragraph B40 of Appendix B to Ind AS 110 inter alia states that other decisionmaking rights, in 

combination with voting rights, can give an investor the current ability to direct the relevant activities. For 

example, the rights specified in a contractual arrangement in combination with voting rights may be 

sufficient to give an investor the current ability to direct the manufacturing processes of an investee or to 

direct other operating or financing activities of an investee that significantly affect the investee’s returns. 

In the instant case, AB Limited has (though its nominee director who chairs board meetings) a casting vote 

at the board meetings which along with its 50% (three out of six) of the normal voting rights gives it power 

to take decisions concerning relevant activities, even if the nominee directors of other investors do not 

concur with it on any matter. Thus, AB Limited has the current ability to direct the relevant activities of XY 

Limited through control over board decisions and hence it controls XY Limited. 

 

Illustration 25 
A fund is set up by a corporate entity that runs a power plant. The corporate entity (which owns all of the 

units in the fund) needs to keep funds available in case of a technical failure of the power plant. The entity 

does not have the expertise to manage the fund, so it appoints a third party asset manager. The entity can 

remove the fund manager on four months’ notice.  

The fund invests in traded equity and debt instruments (as set out in the investment management 

agreement and fund founding documents) and its maximum exposure to one investment is not more than 

11% of monies invested. The objective of the fund is to generate returns either from dividends and interest 

or from selling the instruments. The fund does not invest in the power industry and the corporate entity has 

no other relationship with the fund; for example, it does not have options to buy any of the investments 

made by the fund.  

The fund reports fair value information internally and to its corporate parent; and its performance is 

evaluated against a benchmark stock exchange index. 

The fund issues units that are redeemable at any time. The redeemable shares pay the net asset value of 

the fund when liquidated, and they are accounted for by the fund as equity under Ind AS 32. The units do 

not carry voting rights. 

Is the fund an investment entity? How does the corporate entity account for its interest in the fund? 

SM PG [14.50] 
Solution 

The fund is an investment entity. It meets the definition of an investment entity to the extent that:  
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• It provides investment management services to its investor. 

• Its business purpose is to invest in debt and equity instruments for capital appreciation and investment 

income. 

• It measures and evaluates the performance of its investments on a fair value basis. 

The fund displays two of the four typical characteristics 

• The fund holds multiple investments. 

• The fund only has one investor but in these circumstances that is not inconsistent with its overall 

business purpose and with the definition of an investment entity. 

• The fund does not have unrelated investors, because there is only one investor; but, again, in these 

circumstances this is not inconsistent with the definition of an investment entity. 

• Units issued by the fund entitle the holder to a proportionate share of the net asset value of the fund. 

Two of the characteristics are not satisfied because the fund has a single investor. When examining all the 

facts and circumstances, however, the fund concludes that it is an investment entity and that the failure to 

meet two of the typical characteristics is not inconsistent with the definition. 

The corporate entity is not an investment entity. It consolidates the fund (including any controlled 

investments made by the fund). 

 

Illustration 26 
An entity, X Limited, is formed by Z Limited to invest in start-up technology companies for capital 

appreciation. Z Limited holds a 75% interest in X Limited and controls it; the other 25% ownership interest 

is held by 10 unrelated investors. Z Limited holds options to acquire investments held by X Limited, at their 

fair value, which would be exercised if the technology developed by the investees would benefit the 

operations of Z Limited. 

Whether X Limited meet the definition of an investment entity as per Ind AS 110? 

SM PG [14.51] 
Solution 

Paragraph 27 of Ind AS 110 states that a parent has to determine whether an entity is an investment entity. 

An investment entity is an entity that: 

(a) obtains funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing those investor(s) with investment 

management services; 

(b) commits to its investor(s) that its business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from capital 

appreciation, investment income, or both; and  

(c) measures and evaluates the performance of substantially all of its investments on a fair value basis.” 

Further, paragraph B85I inter-alia states that an entity is not investing solely for capital appreciation, 

investment income or both, if the entity or another member of the group containing the entity obtains, or 

has the objective of obtaining, other benefits from the entity’s investments that are not available to other 

parties that are not related to the investee. Such benefits include the acquisition, use, exchange or 

exploitation of the processes, assets or technology of an investee. This would include the entity or another 

group member having disproportionate, or exclusive, rights to acquire assets, technology, products or 

services of any investee; for example, by holding an option to purchase an asset from an investee if the 

asset’s development is deemed successful. 

Additionally, paragraph B85F of Ind AS 110 inter-alia states that an entity’s investment plans also provide 

evidence of its business purpose. One feature that differentiates an investment entity from other entities is 

that an investment entity does not plan to hold its investments indefinitely; it holds them for a limited period. 

Since equity investments and non-financial asset investments have the potential to be held indefinitely, an 

investment entity shall have an exit strategy documenting how the entity plans to realise capital 

appreciation from substantially all of its equity investments and non-financial asset investments”. 

The absence of an exit strategy for investments in subsidiaries also suggests that the investments are 

made not only for investment returns (capital appreciation, investment income or both) but also other 

benefits (such as those arising from synergies). 
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In the instant case, although X's business purpose is investing for capital appreciation and it provides 

investment management services to its investors, X Limited is not an investment entity since: 

–  Z Limited, the parent of X Limited, has an option to acquire investments in investees held by X Limited, if 

assets developed by the investees would benefit the operations of Z Limited.  

This provides other benefits in addition to capital appreciation and investment income; and  

– the investment plans of X Limited do not include exit strategies for its investments, which are equity 

instruments. The options held by Z Limited are not controlled by X Limited and do not constitute an exit 

strategy. 

Since X Limited is not an investment entity, it will be required to consolidate its subsidiaries. 
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UNIT 5 : 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS : ACCOUNTING OF SUBSIDIARIES 

 

 

Illustration 8 
H Limited has a subsidiary, S Limited and an associate, A Limited. The three companies are engaged in 

different lines of business. 

These companies are using the following cost formulas for their valuation in accordance with Ind AS 2, 

Inventories: 

 

Name of the Company  Cost formula used 

H Limited  FIFO 

S Limited, A Limited  Weighted average cost 

Whether H Limited is required to value inventories of S Limited and A Limited also using FIFO formula in 

preparing its consolidated financial statements? 

SM PG [14.65] 
Solution 

Paragraph 19 of Ind AS 110 states that a parent shall prepare consolidated financial statements using 

uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances. Paragraph B87 

of Ind AS 110 states that if a member of the group uses accounting policies other than those adopted in the 

consolidated financial statements for like transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate 

adjustments are made to that group member’s financial statements in preparing the consolidated financial 

statements to ensure conformity with the group’s accounting policies. 

It may be noted that the above mentioned paragraphs requires an entity to apply uniform accounting 

policies “for like transactions and events in similar circumstances”. If any member of the group follows a 

different accounting policy for like transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate 

adjustments are to be made in preparing consolidated financial statements. 

Paragraph 5 of Ind AS 8 defines accounting policies as “the specific principles, bases, conventions, rules 

and practices applied by an entity in preparing and presenting financial statements.” 

Ind AS 2 requires inventories to be measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Paragraph 25 of 

Ind AS 2 states that the cost of inventories shall be assigned by using FIFO or weighted average cost 

formula. An entity shall use the same cost formula for all inventories having a similar nature and use to the 

entity. For inventories with a different nature or use, different cost formulas may be justified. 

Elaborating on the requirements of paragraph 25, paragraph 26 of Ind AS 2 illustrates that inventories used 

in one operating segment may have a use to the entity different from the same type of inventories used in 

another operating segment. However, a difference in geographical location of inventories (or in the 

respective tax rules), by itself, is not sufficient to justify the use of different cost formulas. 

Paragraph 36(a) of Ind AS 2 requires disclosure of “the accounting policies adopted in measuring 

inventories, including the cost formula used”. Thus, as per Ind AS 2, the cost formula applied in valuing 

inventories is also an accounting policy. 

As mentioned earlier, as per Ind AS 2, different cost formulas may be justified for inventories of a different 

nature or use. Thus, if inventories of S Limited and A Limited differ in nature or use from inventories of H 

Limited, then use of cost formula (weighted average cost) different from that applied in respect of 

inventories of H Limited (FIFO) in consolidated financial statements may be justified. In other words, in 

such a case, no adjustment needs to be made to align the cost formula applied by S Limited and A Limited 

to cost formula applied by H Limited. 

 

 

 

Illustration 20 
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How should assets and liabilities be classified into current or non-current in consolidated financial 

statements when parent and subsidiary have different reporting dates? 

SM PG [14.89] 
Solution 

Paragraphs B92 and B93 of Ind AS 110 require subsidiaries with reporting period end different from parent, 

to provide additional information or details of significant transactions or events if it is impracticable to 

provide additional information to enable the parent entity to consolidate such financial information at 

group’s reporting period end. 

The appropriate classification of the assets and liabilities as current or non-current in the consolidated 

financial statements has to be determined by reference to the reporting period end of the group. 

Accordingly, when a subsidiary’s financial statements are for a different reporting period end, it is 

necessary to review the subsidiary's balance sheet to ensure that items are correctly classified as current 

or non-current as at the end of the group's reporting period. 

For example, a subsidiary with the financial year end of 31st December, 20X1 has a payable outstanding 

that is due for payment on 1st January, 20X3, and has accordingly classified it as noncurrent in its balance 

sheet. The financial year end of the parent’s consolidated financial statements is 31st March 31, 20X3. Due 

to the time lag, the subsidiary's payable falls due within 12 months from the end of the parent's reporting 

period. 

Accordingly, in this case, the payable should be classified as a current liability in the consolidated financial 

statements of the parent because the amount is repayable within nine months of the end of the parent's 

reporting period. 

 

Illustration 21 
A Limited, an Indian Company has a foreign subsidiary, B Inc. Subsidiary B Inc. has taken a long term loan 

from a foreign bank, which is repayable after in the year 20X9. However, during the year ended 31st 

March, 20X2, it breached one of the conditions of the loan, as a consequence of which the loan became 

repayable on demand on the reporting date. Subsequent to year end but before the approval of the 

financial statements, B Inc. rectified the breach and the bank agreed not to demand repayment and to let 

the loan run for its remaining period to maturity as per the original loan terms. While preparing its 

standalone financial statements as per IFRS, B Inc. has classified this loan as a current liability in 

accordance with IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements. 

Whether A limited is required to classify such loan as current while preparing its consolidated financial 

statement under Ind AS? 

SM PG [14.90] 
Solution 

As per paragraph 74 of Ind AS 1, where there is a breach of a material provision of a long-term loan 

arrangement on or before the end of the reporting period with the effect that the liability becomes payable 

on demand on the reporting date, the entity does not classify the liability as current, if the lender agreed, 

after the reporting period and before the approval of the financial statements for issue, not to demand 

payment as a consequence of the breach. 

The above position under Ind AS 1 differs from the corresponding position under IAS 1. As per paragraph 

74 of IAS 1, when an entity breaches a provision of a long-term loan arrangement on or before the end of 

the reporting period with the effect that the liability becomes payable on demand, it classifies the liability as 

current, even if the lender agreed, after the reporting period and before the authorisation of the financial 

statements for issue, not to demand payment as a consequence of the breach. An entity classifies the 

liability as current because, at the end of the reporting period, it does not have an unconditional right to 

defer its settlement for at least twelve months after that date. 

Accordingly, the loan liability recognised as current liability by B Inc. in its standalone financial statements 

prepared as per IFRS, should be aligned as per Ind AS in the consolidated financial statements of A 

Limited and should be classified as non-current in the consolidated financial statements of A Limited in 

accordance with Ind AS 1. 
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Illustration 28 
Entity A sells a 30% interest in its wholly-owned subsidiary to outside investors in an arm’s length 

transaction for ` 500 crore in cash and retains a 70% controlling interest in the subsidiary. At the time of the 

sale, the carrying value of the subsidiary’s net assets in the consolidated financial statements of Entity A is 

` 1,300 crore, additionally, there is a goodwill of ` 200 crore that arose on the subsidiary’s acquisition. Entity 

A initially accounted for NCI representing present ownership interests in the subsidiary at fair value and it 

recognises subsequent changes in NCI in the subsidiary at NCI’s proportionate share in aggregate of net 

identifiable assets and associated goodwill. How should Entity A account for the transaction? 

SM PG [14.90] 
Solution 

As per paragraph 23 of Ind AS 110, changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not 

result in the parent losing control of the subsidiary are equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in 

their capacity as owners). Thus, changes in ownership interest that do not result in loss of control do not 

impact goodwill associated with the subsidiary or the statement of profit and loss. 

Paragraph B96 of Ind AS 110 states that when the proportion of the equity held by non-controlling interests 

changes, an entity shall adjust the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to 

reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. The entity shall recognise directly in equity 

any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of 

the consideration paid or received, and attribute it to the owners of the parent. 

 

Thus, at the time of sale of 30% of its equity interest, consolidated financial statements include an amount 

of ` 1,500 crore in respect of the subsidiary. Accordingly, in the present case, the accounting entry on the 

date of sale of the 30% interest would be as follows: 

(Rupees in crore) 

Cash   Dr.   500 

To NCI (30% of 1,500 crore)   450 

To Equity     50 
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UNIT 6 : 
JOINT ARRANGEMENTS 

 

Illustration 20 
AB Limited and BC Limited establish a joint arrangement through a separate vehicle PQR, but the legal 

form of the separate vehicle does not confer separation between the parties and the separate vehicle itself. 

Thus, both the parties have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities of PQR. As neither the 

contractual terms nor the other facts and circumstances indicate otherwise, it is concluded that the 

arrangement is a joint operation and not a joint venture. 

Both the parties own 50% each of the equity interest in PQR. However, the contractual terms of the joint 

arrangement state that AB Limited has the rights to all of Building No. 1 owned by PQR and the obligation 

to pay all of the debt owed by PQR to a lender XYZ. AB Limited and BC Limited have rights to all other 

assets in PQR, and obligations for all other liabilities of PQR in proportion of their equity interests (i.e. 50% 

each). 

PQR's balance sheet is as follows (all amounts in INR): 

Liabilities and equity  Amount  Assets  Amount 

Debt owed to XYZ  240  Cash  40 

Employee benefit plan obligation  100  Building 1  240 

Equity  140  Building 2  200 

Total  480  Total  480 

How would AB Limited present its interest in PQR in its financial statements? 

SM PG [14.124] 
Solution 

Paragraph 20 of Ind AS 111 states that “a joint operator shall recognise in relation to its interest in a joint 

operation: 

(a) its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; 

(b) its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; 

(c) its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation; 

(d) its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and 

(e) its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.” 

 

The rights and obligations, as specified in the contractual arrangement, that an entity has with respect to 

the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses relating to a joint operation might differ from its ownership 

interest in the joint operation. Thus a joint operator needs to recognise its interest in the assets, liabilities, 

revenue and expenses of the joint operation on the basis (bases) specified in the contractual arrangement, 

rather than in proportion of its ownership interest in the joint operation. 

Thus, AB Limited would record the following in its financial statements, to account for its rights to the assets 

of PQR and its obligations for the liabilities of PQR. 

 Amount 
Assets  

Cash  20 

Building 1*  240 

Building 2  100 

Liabilities  

Debt (third party)^  240 

Employees benefit plan obligation  50 

^AB Limited has obligation for the debt owed by PQR to XYZ in its entirety. 

*Since AB Limited has the rights to all of Building No. 1, it records the amount in its entirety. 
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Illustration 21 
Entity X is owned by three institutional investors – A Limited, B Limited and C Limited – holding 40%, 40% 

and 20% equity interest respectively. A contractual arrangement between A Limited and B Limited gives 

them joint control over the relevant activities of Entity X. It is determined that Entity X is a joint operation 

(and not a joint venture). C Limited is not a party to the arrangement between A Limited and B Limited. 

However, like A Limited and B Limited, C Limited also has rights to the assets, and obligations for the 

liabilities, relating to the joint operation in proportion of its equity interest in Entity X. 

Would the manner of accounting to be followed by A Limited and B Limited on the one hand and C Limited 

on the other in respect of their respective interests in Entity X be the same or different? 

SM PG [14.125] 
Solution 

Paragraphs 26 and 27 of Ind AS 111 state that in its separate financial statements, a joint operator or joint 

venture shall account for its interest in: 

(a)  a joint operation in accordance with paragraphs 20–22; 

(b) a joint venture in accordance with paragraph 10 of Ind AS 27, Separate Financial Statements. 

 

In its separate financial statements, a party that participates in, but does not have joint control of, a joint 

arrangement shall account for its interest in: 

(a)  a joint operation in accordance with paragraph 23; 

(b)  a joint venture in accordance with Ind AS 109, unless the entity has significant influence over the 

joint venture, in which case it shall apply paragraph 10 of Ind AS 27.” 

Paragraphs 20 and 21 of Ind AS 111 state that a joint operator shall recognise in relation to its interest in a 

joint operation: 

(a)  its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; 

(b)  its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; 

(c)  its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation; 

(d)  its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and 

(e)  its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly. 

A joint operator shall account for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its interest in a 

joint operation in accordance with the Ind ASs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and 

expenses.” 

Paragraph 23 of Ind AS 111 states that a party that participates in, but does not have joint control of a joint 

operation shall also account for its interest in the arrangement in accordance with paragraphs 20–22 if that 

party has rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the joint operation. 

If a party that participates in, but does not have joint control of, a joint operation does not have rights to the 

assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to that joint operation, it shall account for its interest in the 

joint operation in accordance with the Ind ASs applicable to that interest. In the given case, all three 

investors (A Limited, B Limited and C Limited) share in the assets and liabilities of the joint operation in 

proportion of their respective equity interest. Accordingly, both A Limited and B Limited (which have joint 

control) and C Limited (which does not have joint control) shall apply paragraphs 20-22 in accounting for 

their respective interests in Entity X in their respective separate financial statements as well as 

consolidated financial statements. 
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UNIT 7 : 
INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES & JOINT VENTURES 

 

 

Illustration 8 
Entity A holds a 20% equity interest in Entity B (an associate) that in turn has a 100% equity interest in 

Entity C. Entity B recognised net assets relating to Entity C of ` 1,000 in its consolidated financial 

statements. Entity B sells 20% of its interest in Entity C to a third party (a non-controlling shareholder) for ` 

300 and recognises this transaction as an equity transaction in accordance with paragraph 23 of Ind AS 

110, resulting in a credit in Entity B’s equity of ` 100. 

The financial statements of Entity A and Entity B are summarised as follows before and after the 

transaction: 

 

Before 

A’s consolidated financial statements 

Assets  ` Liabilities ` 

Investment in B 200 Equity 200 

Total 200 Total 200 

B’s consolidated financial statements 

Assets ` Liabilities ` 

Assets (from C) 1000 Equity 1000 

Total 1000 Total 1000 

 
 

The financial statements of B after the transaction are summarised below: 
After 

B’s consolidated financial statements 

Assets ` Liabilities `  

Assets (from C) 1000 Equity 1000  

Cash 300 Equity transaction with non-controlling interest 100  

  Equity attributable to owners  1100 

    Non-controlling interest  200 

Total 1300 Total  1300 

 

Although Entity A did not participate in the transaction, Entity A’s share of net assets in Entity B increased 

as a result of the sale of B's 20% interest in C. Effectively, A's share in B's net assets is now ` 220 (20% of ` 

1,100) i.e., ` 20 in addition to its previous share. 

How is an equity transaction that is recognised in the financial statements of Entity B reflected in the 

consolidated financial statements of Entity A that uses the equity method to account for its investment in 

Entity B? 

SM PG [14.137] 
Solution 

Ind AS 28 defines the equity method as “a method of accounting whereby the investment is initially 

recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change in the investor’s share of the 
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investee’s net assets. The investor’s profit or loss includes its share of the investee’s profit or loss and the 

investor’s other comprehensive income includes its share of the investee’s other comprehensive income.” 

Paragraph 27 of Ind AS 28, states, inter alia, that when an associate or joint venture has subsidiaries, 

associates or joint ventures, the profit or loss, other comprehensive income, and net assets taken into 

account in applying the equity method are those recognised in the associate’s or joint venture’s financial 

statements (including the associate’s or joint venture’s share of the profit or loss, other comprehensive 

income and net assets of its associates and joint ventures), after any adjustments necessary to give effect 

to uniform accounting policies. 

The change of interest in the net assets / equity of the associate as a result of the investee’s equity 

transaction is reflected in the investor’s financial statements as ‘share of other changes in equity of 

investee’ (in the statement of changes in equity) instead of gain in Statement of profit and loss, since it 

reflects the post-acquisition change in the net assets of the investee as per paragraph 3 of Ind AS 28 and 

also faithfully reflects the investor’s share of the associate’s transaction as presented in the associate’s 

consolidated financial statements. 

Thus, in the given case, Entity A recognises ` 20 as change in other equity instead of in statement of profit 

and loss and maintains the same classification as of its associate, Entity B, i.e., a direct credit to equity as 

in its consolidated financial statements. 
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UNIT 8 : 
DISCLOSURES 

 

 

Q.9.  As at the beginning of its current financial year, AB Limited holds 90% equity interest in BC Limited. During 

the financial year, AB Limited sells 70% of its equity interest in BC Limited to PQR Limited for a total 

consideration of ` 56 crore and consequently loses control of BC Limited. At the date of disposal, fair value 

of the 20% interest retained by AB Limited is ` 16 crore and the net assets of BC Limited are fair valued at ` 

60 crore. 

These net assets include the following: 

(a)  Debt investments classified as fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) of ` 12 

crore and related FVOCI reserve of ` 6 crore. 

(b)  Net defined benefit liability of ` 6 crore that has resulted in a reserve relating to net measurement 

losses of ` 3 crore. 

(c)  Equity investments (considered not held for trading) of ` 10 crore for which irrevocable option of 

recognising the changes in fair value in FVOCI has been availed and related FVOCI reserve of ` 4 

crore. 

(d)  Net assets of a foreign operation of ` 20 crore and related foreign currency translation reserve of ` 8 

crore. 

In consolidated financial statements of AB Limited, 90% of the above reserves were included in equivalent 

equity reserve balances, with the 10% attributable to the non-controlling interest included as part of the 

carrying amount of the non-controlling interest. 

What would be the accounting treatment on loss of control in the consolidated financial statements of AB 

Limited? 

SM PG [14.152] 
Solution:  

Paragraph 25 of Ind AS 110 states that if a parent loses control of a subsidiary, the parent: 

(a)  derecognises the assets and liabilities of the former subsidiary from the consolidated balance 

sheet. 

(b)  recognises any investment retained in the former subsidiary at its fair value when control is lost and 

subsequently accounts for it and for any amounts owed by or to the former subsidiary in 

accordance with relevant Ind ASs. That fair value shall be regarded as the fair value on initial 

recognition of a financial asset in accordance with Ind AS 109 or, when appropriate, the cost on 

initial recognition of an investment in an associate or joint venture. 

(c)  recognises the gain or loss associated with the loss of control attributable to the former controlling 

interest.” 

Paragraph B98(c) of Ind AS 110 states that on loss of control over a subsidiary, a parent shall reclassify to 

profit or loss, or transfer directly to retained earnings if required by other Ind AS, the amounts recognised in 

other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary on the basis specified in paragraph B99. 

As per paragraph B99, if a parent loses control of a subsidiary, the parent shall account for all amounts 

previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary on the same basis as 

would be required if the parent had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 

Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income would be reclassified to 

profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the parent shall reclassify the gain or loss 

from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when it loses control of the subsidiary. If a 

revaluation surplus previously recognised in other comprehensive income would be transferred directly to 

retained earnings on the disposal of the asset, the parent shall transfer the revaluation surplus directly to 

retained earnings when it loses control of the subsidiary. 

 

In view of the basis in its consolidated financial statements, AB Limited shall: 
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(a)  re-classify the FVOCI reserve in respect of the debt investments of ` 5.4 crore (90% of ` 6 crore) 

attributable to the owners of the parent to the statement of profit or loss in accordance with 

paragraph B5.7.1A of Ind AS 109, Financial Instruments which requires that the cumulative gains 

or losses previously recognised in OCI shall be recycled to profit and loss upon derecognition of 

the related financial asset. This is reflected in the gain on disposal. Remaining 10% (i.e., ` 0.6 

crore) relating to non-controlling interest (NCI) is included as part of the carrying amount of the 

non-controlling interest that is derecognized in calculating the gain or loss on loss of control of the 

subsidiary; 

(b)  transfer the reserve relating to the net measurement losses on the defined benefit liability of ` 2.7 

crore (90% of ` 3 crore) attributable to the owners of the parent within equity to retained earnings. It 

is not reclassified to profit or loss. The remaining 10% (i.e., ` 0.3 crore) attributable to the NCI is 

included as part of the carrying amount of NCI that is derecognised in calculating the gain or loss 

on loss of control over the subsidiary. No amount is reclassified to profit or loss, nor is it transferred 

within equity, in respect of the 10% attributable to the non-controlling interest. 

(c)  reclassify the cumulative gain on fair valuation of equity investment of ` 3.6 crore (90% of ` 4 crore) 

attributable to the owners of the same parent from OCI to retained earnings under equity as per 

paragraph B5.7.1 of Ind AS 109, Financial Instruments, which provides that in case an entity has 

made an irrevocable election to recognise the changes in the fair value of an investment in an 

equity instrument not held for trading in OCI, it may subsequently transfer the cumulative amount of 

gains or loss within equity. Remaining 10% (i.e., ` 0.4 crore) related to the NCI are derecognised 

along with the balance of NCI and not reclassified to profit and loss. 

(d)  reclassify the foreign currency translation reserve of ` 7.2 crore (90% × ` 8 crore) attributable to the 

owners of the parent to statement of profit or loss as per paragraph 48 of Ind AS 21, The Effects of 

Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, which specifies that the cumulative amount of exchange 

differences relating to the foreign operation, recognized in OCI, shall be reclassified from equity to 

profit or loss on the disposal of foreign operation. This is reflected in the gain on disposal. 

Remaining 10% (i.e., ` 0.8 crore) relating to the NCI is included as part of the carrying amount of 

the NCI that is derecognised in calculating the gain or loss on the loss of control of subsidiary, but 

is not reclassified to profit or loss in pursuance of paragraph 48B of Ind AS 21, which provides that 

the cumulative exchange differences relating to that foreign operation attributed to NCI shall be 

derecognised on disposal of the foreign operation, but shall not be reclassified to profit or loss. 

The impact of loss of control over BC Limited on the consolidated financial statements of AB Limited is 

summarised below: 

(Rupees in crore) 
Particular Amount 

(Dr) 
Amount 

(Cr) 
PL 

Impact 
RE 

Impact 
Gain / Loss on Disposal on Investments     

Bank 56    

Non-controlling interest (Derecognised) 6    

Investment at FV (20% Retained) 16    

Gain on Disposal (PL) balancing figure  18 18  

De-recognition of total net assets of subsidiary 60    

Reclassification of FVTOCI reserve on debt instruments to 

profit or loss 

    

FVTOCI reserve on debt  instruments (6 cr. x 90%) 5.4    

To Profit and loss 5.4 5.4   
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Reclassification of net measurement loss reserve to profit or 

loss 

    

Reserve and Surplus 2.7   -2.7 

To Net measurement loss reserve (FVTOCI) [(3 cr. x 90%)]  2.7   

Reclassification of FVTOCI reserve on equity instruments to 

retained earnings 

    

FVTOCI reserve on equity instruments (4 cr.x 90%) 3.6    

To Reserve and Surplus  3.6  3.6 

Foreign currency translation reserve reclassified to profit or 

loss 

    

Foreign currency translation reserve (FVOCI) [8 cr. x90%] 7.2    

To Profit and loss  7.2 7.2  

Total   30.6 0.9 
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Chapter 15 
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Case Study 1 
On 1st April, 20X1, Pluto Ltd. has advance a loan for ` 10 lakhs to one of its employees for an interest rate 

at 4% per annum (market rate 10%) which is repayable in 5 equal annual installments along with interest at 

each year end. Employee is not required to give any specific performance against this benefit. 

The accountant of the company has recognised the staff loan in the balance sheet equivalent to the 

amount disbursed i.e. ` 10 lakhs. The interest income for the period is recognised at the contracted rate in 

the Statement of Profit and Loss by the company i.e. ` 40,000 (` 10 lakhs x 4%). 

Analyse whether the above accounting treatment made by the accountant is in compliance with the Ind AS. 

If not, advise the correct treatment alongwith working for the same. 

SM PG [15.11] 
Solution 

The above treatment needs to be examined in the light of the provisions given in Ind AS 32 and Ind AS 109 

on Financial Instruments’ and Ind AS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’. 

Para 11 (c) (i) of Ind AS 32 ‘Financial Instruments : Presentation’ states that: 

“A financial asset is any asset that is: 
(c)  a contractual right: 

(i) to receive cash or…..” 

Further, paragraph 5.1.1 of Ind AS 109 states that: 

“at initial recognition, an entity shall measure a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value”. 

 

Further, paragraph 5.1.1 of Appendix B to Ind AS 109 states that: 

“The fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction price (i.e. the fair 

value of the consideration given or received. However, if part of the consideration given or received is for 

something other than the financial instrument, an entity shall measure the fair value of the financial 

instrument. For example, the fair value of a long term loan or receivable that carries no interest can be 

measured as the present value of all future cash receipts discounted using the prevailing market(s) of 

interest rate of similar instrument with a similar credit rating. Any additional amount lent is an expense or 

reduction of income unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of asset”. 

 

Further, paragraph 5.2.1 of Ind AS 109 states that: 

“After initial recognition, an entity shall measure a financial asset at: 

(a)  amortised cost; 

(b)  fair value through other comprehensive income; or 

(c)  fair value through profit or loss. 

 

Further, paragraph 5.4.1 of Ind AS 109 states that: 

“Interest revenue shall be calculated by using the effective interest method. This shall be calculated by 

applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset” 

 

Paragraph 8 of Ind AS 19 states that: 

“Employee Benefits are all forms of consideration given by an entity in exchange for service rendered by 

employees or for the termination of employment”. 

The Accountant of Pluto Ltd. has recognised the staff loan in the balance sheet at ` 10 lakhs being the 

amount disbursed and ` 40,000 as interest income for the period is recognised at the contracted rate in the 

statement of profit and loss which is not correct and not in accordance with Ind AS 19, Ind AS 32 and Ind 

AS 109. 
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Accordingly, the staff advance being a financial asset shall be initially measured at the fair value and 

subsequently at the amortised cost. The interest income is calculated by using the effective interest 

method. The difference between the amount lent and fair value is charged as Employee benefit expense in 

statement of profit and loss. 

 

a)  Calculation of Fair Value of the Loan 
 

Year Cash Inflow Discounting Factor 
(10%) 

Present Value 

1 2,40,000 0.909 2,18,160 

2 2,32,000 0.826 1,91,632 

3 2,24,000 0.751 1,68,224 

4 2,16,000 0.683 1,47,528 

5 2,08,000 0.621 1,29,168 

Total 8,54,712 
 

Staff loan should be initially recorded at ` 8,54,712. 

 

b)  Employee Benefit Expense 

Loan Amount – Fair Value of the loan = ` 10,00,000 – ` 8,54,712 = ` 1,45,288 

` 1,45,288 shall be charged as Employee Benefit expense in Statement of Profit and Loss for the 

year ended 31.03.20X2. 

 

Amortisation table: 
 

Year Opening balance 
of Staff Advance 

(a) 

Interest (10%)  
 

(b)= (a x 10%) 

Repayment  
 

(c) 

Closing balance of 
Staff Advance  
(d) = a + b –c 

1 8,54,712 85,471 2,40,000 7,00,183 

2 7,00,183 70,018 2,32,000 5,38,201 

3 5,38,201 53,820 2,24,000 3,68,021 

4 3,68,021 36,802 2,16,000 1,88,823 

5 1,88,823 19,177 (b.f.) 2,08,000 Nil 

Balance Sheet extracts showing the presentation of staff loan as at 31st March, 20X2 
Ind AS compliant Division II of Sch III needs to be referred for presentation requirement in Balance Sheet 

on Ind AS. 

 

Assets  
Non-Current Assets  
Financial Assets  

(i) Loan 5,38,201 

Current Assets  

Financial Assets  

(i) Loans (7,00,183 - 5,38,201) 1,61,982 

 

Case Study 2 
Pluto Ltd. has purchased a manufacturing plant for ` 6 lakhs on 1st April, 20X1. The useful life of the plant 

is 10 years. On 30th September, 20X3, Pluto temporarily stops using the manufacturing plant because 

demand has declined. However, the plant is maintained in a workable condition and it will be used in future 

when demand picks up. 
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The accountant of Pluto ltd. decided to treat the plant as held for sale until the demands picks up and 

accordingly measures the plant at lower of carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Also, the 

accountant has also stopped charging the depreciation for the rest of period considering the plant as held 

for sale. The fair value less cost to sell on 30th September, 20X3 and 31st March, 20X4 was ` 4 lakhs and ` 

3.5 lakhs respectively. 

 

The accountant has performed the following working: ` 

Carrying amount on initial classification as held for sale   

Purchase Price of Plant 6,00,000  

Less: Accumulated dep (6,00,000/ 10 Years) x 2.5 years (1,50,000) 4,50,000 

Fair Value less cost to sell as on 31st March, 20X4  4,00,000 

The value will be lower of the above two  4,00,000 

 

Balance Sheet extracts as on 31st March, 20X4 

Assets  

Current Assets  

Other Current Assets  

Assets classified as held for sale 3,50,000 

 

Analyse whether the above accounting treatment made by the accountant is in  compliance with the Ind 

AS. If not, advise the correct treatment alongwith the necessary workings. 

SM PG [15.13] 
Solution 

The above treatment needs to be examined in the light of the provisions given in Ind AS 16 ‘Property, Plant 

and Equipment’ and Ind AS 105 ‘Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations’. 

Para 6 of Ind AS 105 ‘Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations’ states that:  

“An entity shall classify a non-current asset (or disposal group) as held for sale if its carrying amount will be 

recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use”. 

 

Paragraph 7 of Ind AS 105 states that: 

“For this to be the case, the asset (or disposal group) must be available for immediate sale in its present 

condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such assets (or disposal groups) 

and its sale must be highly probable. Thus, an asset (or disposal group) cannot be classified as a non-

current asset (or disposal group) held for sale, if the entity intends to sell it in a distant future”. 

 

Further, paragraph 8 of Ind AS 105 states that: 

“For the sale to be highly probable, the appropriate level of management must be committed to a plan to 

sell the asset (or disposal group), and an active programme to locate a buyer and complete the plan must 

have been initiated. Further, the asset (or disposal group) must be actively marketed for sale at a price that 

is reasonable in relation to its current fair value. In addition, the sale should be expected to qualify for 

recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification and actions required to 

complete the plan should indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan will be made or that 

the plan will be withdrawn.” 

 

Paragraph 13 of Ind AS 105 states that: 
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“An entity shall not classify as held for sale a non-current asset (or disposal group) that is to be abandoned. 

This is because its carrying amount will be recovered principally through continuing use.” 

 

Paragraph 14 of Ind AS 105 states that: 

“An entity shall not account for a non-current asset that has been temporarily taken out of use as if it had 

been abandoned.” 

 

Paragraph 55 of Ind AS 16 states that: 

“Depreciation does not cease when the asset becomes idle or is retired from active use unless the asset is 

fully depreciated.” 

 

Going by the guidance given above, 

The Accountant of Pluto Ltd. has treated the plant as held for sale and measured it at the fair value less 

cost to sell. Also, the depreciation has not been charged thereon since the date of classification as held for 

sale which is not correct and not in accordance with Ind AS 105 and Ind AS 16. 

Accordingly, the manufacturing plant should neither be treated as abandoned asset nor as held for sale 

because its carrying amount will be principally recovered through continuous use. Pluto Ltd. shall not stop 

charging depreciation or treat the plant as held for sale because its carrying amount will be recovered 

principally through continuing use to the end of their economic life.  

The working of the same for presenting in the balance sheet is given as below: 

Calculation of carrying amount as on 31st March, 20X4  

Purchase Price of Plant 6,00,000 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (6,00,000/ 10 Years) x 3 Years (1,80,000) 

 4,20,000 

Less: Impairment loss   (70,000) 

   3,50,000 

 

Balance Sheet extracts as on 31st March, 20X4 

Assets  

Non-Current Assets  

Property, Plant and Equipment 3,50,000 

 

Working Note: 
Fair value less cost to sell of the Plant  = ` 3,50,000 

Value in Use (not given) or   = Nil (since plant has temporarily not been used for 

manufacturing due to decline in demand) 

Recoverable amount = higher of above i.e. ` 3,50,000 

Impairment loss = Carrying amount – Recoverable amount 

Impairment loss = ` 4,20,000 - ` 3,50,000 = ` 70,000. 

 

 

Case Study 3 
On 5th April, 20X2, fire damaged a consignment of inventory at one of the Jupiter’s Ltd.’s warehouse. This 

inventory had been manufactured prior to 31st March, 20X2 costing ` 8 lakhs. The net realisable value of 

the inventory prior to the damage was estimated at ` 9.60 lakhs. Because of the damage caused to the 

consignment of inventory, the company was required to spend an additional amount of ` 2 lakhs on 
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repairing and re-packaging of the inventory. The inventory was sold on 15th May, 20X2 for proceeds of ` 9 

lakhs. 

The accountant of Jupiter Ltd treats this event as an adjusting event and adjusted this event of causing the 

damage to the inventory in its financial statement and accordingly re-measures the inventories as follows: 

` lakhs  

Cost 8.00 

Net realisable value (9.6 -2) 7.60 

Inventories (lower of cost and net realisable value) 7.60 

 

Analyse whether the above accounting treatment made by the accountant in regard to financial year ending 

on 31.0.20X2 is in compliance of the Ind AS. If not, advise the correct treatment alongwith working for the 

same. 

SM PG [15.16] 
Solution 

The above treatment needs to be examined in the light of the provisions given in Ind AS 10 ‘Events after 

the Reporting Period’ and Ind AS 2 ‘Inventories’. 

Para 3 of Ind AS 10 ‘Events after the Reporting Period’ defines “Events after the reporting period are those 

events, favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when 

the financial statements are approved by the Board of Directors in case of a company, and, by the 

corresponding approving authority in case of any other entity for issue. Two types of events can be 

identified: 

(a)  those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period (adjusting 

events after the reporting period); and 

(b)  those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period (non-adjusting events 

after the reporting period). 

 

Further, paragraph 10 of Ind AS 10 states that: 

“An entity shall not adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements to reflect non adjusting events 

after the reporting period”. 

 

Further, paragraph 6 of Ind AS 2 defines: 

“Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated 

costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale”.  

 

Further, paragraph 9 of Ind AS 2 states that: 

“Inventories shall be measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value”.  

Accountant of Jupiter Ltd. has re-measured the inventories after adjusting the event in its financial 

statement which is not correct and nor in accordance with provision of Ind AS 2 and Ind AS 10.   

Accordingly, the event causing the damage to the inventory occurred after the reporting date and as per the 

principles laid down under Ind AS 10 ‘Events After the Reporting Date’ is a nonadjusting event as it does 

not affect conditions at the reporting date. Non-adjusting events are not recognised in the financial 

statements, but are disclosed where their effect is material. 

Therefore, as per the provisions of Ind AS 2 and Ind AS 10, the consignment of inventories shall be 

recorded in the Balance Sheet at a value of ` 8 Lakhs calculated below:  

`’ lakhs 

 

Cost 8.00 

Net realisable value 9.60 
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Inventories (lower of cost and net realisable value) 8.00 

 

Case Study 4 
On 1st April, 20X1, Sun Ltd. has acquired 100% shares of Earth Ltd. for ` 30 lakhs. Sun Ltd. has 3 cash-

generating units A, B and C with fair value of ` 12 lakhs, ` 8 lakhs and ` 4 lakhs respectively. The company 

recognizes goodwill of Rs 6 lakhs that relates to CGU ‘C’ only.  

During the financial year 20X2-20X3, the CFO of the company has a view that there is no requirement of 

any impairment testing for any CGU since their recoverable amount is comparatively higher than the 

carrying amount and believes there is no indicator of impairment. 

Analyse whether the view adopted by the CFO of Sun Ltd is in compliance of the Ind AS. If not, advise the 

correct treatment in accordance with relevant Ind AS 

SM PG [15.17] 
Solution 

The above treatment needs to be examined in the light of the provisions given in Ind AS 36: Impairment of 

Assets. 

Para 9 of Ind AS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’ states that “An entity shall assess at the end of each reporting 

period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the 

entity shall estimate the recoverable amount of the asset.” 

 

Further, paragraph 10(b) of Ind AS 36 states that: 

“Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, an entity shall also test goodwill acquired in a 

business combination for impairment annually.” 

Sun Ltd has not tested any CGU on account of not having any indication of impairment is partially correct 

i.e. in respect of CGU A and B but not for CGU C. Hence, the treatment made by the Company is not in 

accordance with Ind AS 36. 

Accordingly, impairment testing in respect of CGU A and B are not required since there are no indications 

of impairment. However, Sun Ltd shall test CGU C irrespective of any indication of impairment annually as 

the goodwill acquired on business combination is fully allocated to CGU ‘C’. 

 

Q.1.  Venus Ltd. is a multinational entity that owns three properties. All three properties were purchased on 1st 

April, 20X1. The details of purchase price and market values of the properties are given as follows: 

 

Particulars Property 1 Property 2 Property 3 

 Factory Factory Let-Out 

Purchase price 15,000 10,000 12,000 

Market value 31.03.20X2 16,000 11,000 13,500 

Life 10 Years 10 Years 10 Years 

Subsequent Measurement Cost Model Revaluation Model Revaluation Model 

 

Property 1 and 2 are used by Venus Ltd. as factory building whilst property 3 is let-out to a nonrelated party 

at a market rent. The management presents all three properties in balance sheet as ‘property, plant and 

equipment’. 

The Company does not depreciate any of the properties on the basis that the fair values are exceeding 

their carrying amount and recognise the difference between purchase price and fair value in Statement of 

Profit and Loss. 

 

Required: 
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Analyse whether the accounting policies adopted by the Venus Ltd. in relation to these properties is in 

accordance with Ind AS. If not, advise the correct treatment alongwith working for the same. 

SM PG [15.19] 
Solution:  

The above issue needs to be examined in the umbrella of the provisions given in Ind AS 1 ‘Presentation of 

Financial Statements’, Ind AS 16 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ in relation to property ‘1’ and ‘2’ and Ind 

AS 40 ‘Investment Property’ in relation to property ‘3’. 

Property ‘1’ and ‘2’ 
Para 6 of Ind AS 16 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ defines: 

“Property, plant and equipment are tangible items that: 

(a)  are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or for 

administrative purposes; and 

(b)  are expected to be used during more than one period.” 

 

Paragraph 29 of Ind AS 16 states that: 

“An entity shall choose either the cost model or the revaluation model as its accounting policy and shall 

apply that policy to an entire class of property, plant and equipment”. 

 

Further, paragraph 36 of Ind AS 16 states that: 

“If an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, the entire class of property, plant and equipment to 

which that asset belongs shall be revalued”. 

 

Further, paragraph 39 of Ind AS 16 states that: 

“If an asset’s carrying amount is increased as a result of a revaluation, the increase shall be recognised in 

other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of revaluation surplus. 

However, the increase shall be recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a revaluation 

decrease of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss”. 

 

Further, paragraph 52 of Ind AS 16 states that: 

“Depreciation is recognised even if the fair value of the asset exceeds its carrying amount, as long as the 

asset’s residual value does not exceed its carrying amount”. 

 

Property ‘3’ 
Para 6 of Ind AS 40 ‘Investment property’ defines: 

“Investment property is property (land or a building—or part of a building—or both) held (by the owner or by 

the lessee under a finance lease) to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both, rather than for: 

(a)  use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or 

(b)  sale in the ordinary course of business”. 

 

Further, paragraph 30 of Ind AS 40 states that: 

“An entity shall adopt as its accounting policy the cost model to all of its investment property”. 

 

Further, paragraph 79 (e) of Ind AS 40 requires that: 

“An entity shall disclose the fair value of investment property”. 

 

Further, paragraph 54 (2) of Ind AS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ requires that: 

“As a minimum, the balance sheet shall include line items that present the following amounts: 

(a)  property, plant and equipment; 

(b)  investment property; 

As per the facts given in the question, Venus Ltd. has 

(a)  presented all three properties in balance sheet as ‘property, plant and equipment’; 



 

 62  Download from www.fast.edu.in                     Get the Best of New Syllabus FR By CA SARTHAK JAIN  
 

SM 2020 Additional Illustrations and Questions 

(b)  applied different accounting policies to Property ‘1’ and ‘2’; 

(c)  revaluation is charged in statement of profit and loss as profit; and 

(d)  applied revaluation model to Property ‘3’ being classified as Investment Property. 

These accounting treatment is neither correct nor in accordance with provision of Ind AS 1, Ind AS 16 and 

Ind AS 40. 

Accordingly, Venus Ltd. shall apply the same accounting policy (i.e. either revaluation or cost model) to 

entire class of property being property ‘1’ and ‘2”. It also required to depreciate these properties irrespective 

of that, their fair value exceeds the carrying amount. The revaluation gain shall be recognised in other 

comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of revaluation surplus. 

There is no alternative of revaluation model in respect to property ‘3’ being classified as Investment 

Property and only cost model is permitted for subsequent measurement. However, Venus ltd. is required to 

disclose the fair value of the property in the Notes to Accounts. Also the property ‘3’ shall be presented as 

separate line item as Investment Property. 

Therefore, as per the provisions of Ind AS 1, Ind AS 16 and Ind AS 40, the presentation of these three 

properties in the balance sheet is as follows: 

 

Case 1: Venus Ltd. has applied the Cost Model to an entire class of property, plant and equipment. 
Balance Sheet extracts as at 31st March, 20X2  

 

Assets `  

Non-Current Assets 
Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property ‘1’ 13,500 

Property ‘2’    9,000 

Investment Properties  

Property ‘3’ 

 
 
 
 

22,500 

 

10,800 

 

Case 2: Venus Ltd. has applied the Revaluation Model to an entire class of property, plant and 
equipment. 

Balance Sheet extracts as at 31st March, 20X2  
Assets `  

Non-Current Assets 
Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property ‘1’ 16,000 

Property ‘2’ 11,000 

Investment Properties  

Property ‘3’ 

 

 

 

27,000 

 
10,800 

Equity and Liabilities  

Other Equity 
Revaluation Reserve 

Property ‘1’ 2,500 

Property ‘2’ 2,000 

 
 
 

4,500 

 

The revaluation reserve should be routed through Other Comprehensive Income (subsequently not 

reclassified to Profit and Loss) in Statement of Profit and Loss and Shown as a separate column in 

Statement of Changes in Equity. 
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Q.2.  On 1st January, 20X2, Sun Ltd. was notified that a customer was taking legal action against the company 

in respect of a financial losses incurred by the customer. Customer alleged that the financial losses were 

caused due to supply of faulty products on 30th September, 20X1 by the Company. Sun Ltd. defended the 

case but considered, based on the progress of the case up to 31st March, 20X2, that there was a 75% 

probability they would have to pay damages of ` 10 lakhs to the customer. 

However, the accountant of Sun Ltd. has not recorded this transaction in its financial statement as the case 

is not yet finally settled. The case was ultimately settled against the company resulting in to payment of 

damages of ` 12 lakhs to the customer on 15th May, 20X2. The financials have been authorized by the 

Board of Directors in its meeting held on 18th May, 20X2. 

Analyse whether the above accounting treatment made by the accountant is in compliance of the Ind AS. If 

not, advise the correct treatment along with working for the same. 

SM PG [15.19] 
Solution:  

The above treatment needs to be examined in the light of the provisions given in Ind AS 37 ‘Provisions, 

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’ and Ind AS 10 ‘Events After the Reporting Period’. 

Para 10 of Ind AS 37 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’ defines:  

“Provision is a liability of uncertain timing or amount. 

Liability is a present obligation of the entity arising from past events, the settlement of which is expected to 

result in an outflow from the entity of resources embodying economic benefits”. 

Further, paragraph 14 of Ind AS 37, states: 

“A provision shall be recognised when: 

(a)  an entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event;  

(b)  it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 

the obligation; and 

(c)  a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation”. 

Further, paragraph 36 of Ind AS 37, states: 

“The amount recognised as a provision shall be the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 

present obligation at the end of the reporting period”. 

Further, paragraph 3 of Ind AS 10 ‘Events after the Reporting Period’ defines:  

“Events after the reporting period are those events, favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the 

end of the reporting period and the date when the financial statements are approved by the Board of 

Directors in case of a company, and, by the corresponding approving authority in case of any other entity 

for issue. Two types of events can be identified: 

(a)  those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period (adjusting 

events after the reporting period); and  

(b)  those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period (nonadjusting events 

after the reporting period). 

Further, paragraph 8 of Ind AS 10 states that:  

“An entity shall adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements to reflect adjusting events after the 

reporting period.” 

The Accountant of Sun Ltd. has not recognised the provision and accordingly not adjusted the amounts 

recognised in its financial statements to reflect adjusting events after the reporting period is not correct and 

nor in accordance with provision of Ind AS 37 and Ind AS 10. 

As per given facts, the potential payment of damages to the customer is an obligation arising out of a past 

event which can be reliably estimated. Therefore, following the provision of Ind AS 37 ‘Provisions, 

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’ – a provision is required.  

The provision should be for the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at 31st 

March, 20X2 which comes to ` 7.5 lakhs (` 10 lakhs x 75%).  

Further, following the principles of Ind AS 10 ‘Events After the Reporting Period’ evidence of the settlement 

amount is an adjusting event. Therefore, the amount of provision created shall be increased to ` 12 lakhs 

and accordingly be recognised as a current liability. 
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Q.3.  Mercury Ltd. is an entity engaged in plantation and farming on a large scale diversified across India. On 1st 

April, 20X1, the company has received a government grant for ` 10 lakhs subject to a condition that it will 

continue to engage in plantation of eucalyptus tree for a coming period of five years. 

The management has a reasonable assurance that the entity will comply with condition of engaging in the 

plantation of eucalyptus tree for specified period of five years and accordingly it recognises proportionate 

grant for ` 2 lakhs in Statement of Profit and Loss as income following the principles laid down under Ind 

AS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance. 

Analyse whether the above accounting treatment made by the management is in compliance of the Ind AS. 

If not, advise the correct treatment alongwith working for the same. 

SM PG [15.20] 
Solution:  

As per given facts, the company is engaged in plantation and farming. Hence Ind AS 41 Agriculture shall 

be applicable to this company. 

The above facts need to be examined in the light of the provisions given in Ind AS 20 ‘Accounting for 

Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance’ and Ind AS 41 ‘Agriculture’. 

Para 2(d) of Ind AS 20 ‘Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government  Assistance’ 

states: 

“This Standard does not deal with government grants covered by Ind AS 41, Agriculture”. 

Further, paragraph 1 (c) of Ind AS 41 ‘Agriculture’, states: 

“This Standard shall be applied to account for the government grants covered by paragraphs 34 and 35 

when they relate to agricultural activity”. 

Further, paragraph 1 (c) of Ind AS 41 ‘Agriculture’, states: 

 

“If a government grant related to a biological asset measured at its fair value less costs to sell is 

conditional, including when a government grant requires an entity not to engage in specified agricultural 

activity, an entity shall recognise the government grant in profit or loss when, and only when, the conditions 

attaching to the government grant are met”. 

Understanding of the given facts, The Company has recognised the proportionate grant for ` 2 lakhs in 

Statement of Profit and Loss before the conditions attaching to government grant are met which is not 

correct and nor in accordance with provision of Ind AS 41 ‘Agriculture’.  

Accordingly, the accounting treatment of government grant received by the Mercury Ltd. is governed by the 

provision of Ind AS 41 ‘Agriculture’ rather Ind AS 20 ‘Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of 

Government Assistance’. 

Government grant for ` 10 lakhs shall be recognised in profit or loss when, and only when, the conditions 

attaching to the government grant are met i.e. after the expiry of specified period of five years of continuing 

engagement in the plantation of eucalyptus tree.  

 

Balance Sheet extracts showing the presentation of Government Grant as on 31st March, 20X2 ` 
Liabilities `  

Non-Current liabilities 
Other Non-Current Liabilities  

Government Grants 

 
 

10,00,000 

 

 

Q.4.  Mercury Ltd. has sold goods to Mars Ltd. at a consideration of ` 10 lakhs, the receipt of which receivable in 

three equal installments of ` 3,33,333 over a two year period (receipts on 1st April, 20X1, 31st March, 20X2 

and 31st March, 20X3). 

The company is offering a discount of 5 % (i.e. ` 50,000) if payment is made in full at the time of sale. The 

sale agreement reflects an implicit interest rate of 5.36% p.a.  
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The total consideration to be received from such sale is at ` 10 Lakhs and hence, the management has 

recognised the revenue from sale of goods for ` 10 lakhs. Further, the management is of the view that there 

is no difference in this aspect between Indian GAAP and Ind AS. 

Analyse whether the above accounting treatment made by the accountant is in compliance of the Ind AS. If 

not, advise the correct treatment along with working for the same. 

SM PG [15.20] 
Solution:  

The revenue from sale of goods shall be recognised at the fair value of the consideration received or 

receivable. The fair value of the consideration is determined by discounting all future receipts using an 

imputed rate of interest where the receipt is deferred beyond normal credit terms. The difference between 

the fair value and the nominal amount of the consideration is recognised as interest revenue. 

The fair value of consideration (cash price equivalent) of the sale of goods is calculated as follows: ` 

 

Year Consideration 
(Installment) 

Present value 
factor 

Present value of 
consideration 

Time of sale 3,33,333 - 3,33,333 

End of 1st year 3,33,333 0.949 3,16,333 

End of 2nd year 3,33,334 0.901 3,00,334 

 10,00,000  9,50,000 
 

The Company that agrees for deferring the cash inflow from sale of goods will recognise the revenue from 

sale of goods and finance income as follows: 

 

Initial recognition of sale of goods  ` ` 

Cash Dr. 3,33,333  

Trade Receivable Dr. 6,16,667  

To Sale   9,50,000 

Recognition of interest expense and receipt of second 
installment 

   

Cash Dr. 3,33,333  

To Interest Income   33,053 

To Trade Receivable   3,00,280 

Recognition of interest expense and payment of final 
installment 

   

Cash Dr. 3,33,334  

To Interest Income (Balancing figure)   16,947 

To Trade Receivable   3,16,387 

 

Balance Sheet (extracts) as at 31st March, 20X2 and 31st March, 20X3 
`  

 As at 31st March, 20X2 As at 31st March, 20X3 
Income   

Sale of Goods 9,50,000 - 

Other Income (Finance income) 33,0532,999 16,947 

 

Statement of Profit and Loss (extracts) 
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for the year ended 31st March, 20X2 and 31st March, 20X3 
`  

 As at 31st March, 20X2 As at 31st March, 20X3 
Assets 
Current Assets 
Financial Assets Trade 

Receivables 

 
 
 

3,16,387 

 
 
 

XXX 

 


